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Cautionary Note on Forward-Looking Statements.
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains both historical and forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements in this 10-Q are subject to a
number of risks and uncertainties, some of which are beyond the Companys control. The potential risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual
financial condition, results of operations and future performance to differ materially from those expressed or implied include:

e changes in laws, regulations, rules, quotas, tariff, and import laws;

e weather conditions, including freeze, rains and droughts that affect the production, transportation, storage, import and export of fresh
produce;

o market responses to industry volume pressures,

e increased pressure from crop disease, insects and other pests;

o disruption of water supplies or changes in water allocations;

e product and raw materials supplies and pricing;

o energy supply and pricing;

e changes in interest and current exchange rates;

o availability of financing for land development activities;

e general economic conditions for residential and commercial real estate development;

e political changes and economic crisis;

e international conflict;

e acts of terrorism;

e labor disruptions, strike, shortages or work stoppages;

e loss of important intellectual property rights; and

o other factors disclosed in our public filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
The Company s actual results, performance, prospects or opportunities could differ materially from those expressed in or implied by the forward-looking
statements. Additional risks of which the Company is not currently aware or which the Company currently deems immaterial could also cause the
Company actual results to differ, including those discussed in the section entitled “Risk Factors” included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-
QO and in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2015. Although we believe the expectations reflected in the forward-
looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results, levels of activity, performance, or achievements. You should not place undue

reliance on these forward-looking statements, which apply only as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Except as required by law, we
undertake no obligation to update these forward-looking statements, even if our situation changes in the future.

»

The terms the “Company,” “we,” “our” and “us” as used throughout this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q refer to Limoneira Company and its consolidated
subsidiaries, unless otherwise indicated.




PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

Assets
Current assets:
Cash
Accounts receivable, net
Cultural costs
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Income taxes receivable
Total current assets

Property, plant and equipment, net
Real estate development
Equity in investments
Investment in Calavo Growers, Inc.
Other assets

Total Assets

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Growers payable
Accrued liabilities
Fair value of derivative instrument
Current portion of long-term debt
Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities:
Long-term debt, less current portion
Deferred income taxes
Other long-term liabilities
Sale-leaseback deferral (Note 8)
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies

Series B Convertible Preferred Stock — $100.00 par value (50,000 shares authorized: 29,500 shares issued and

Limoneira Company

Consolidated Balance Sheets (unaudited)

outstanding at January 31,2016 and October31,2015) (8.75% coupon rate)

Series B-2 Convertible Preferred Stock — $100.00 par value (10,000 shares authorized: 9,300 shares issued and
outstanding at January 31,2016 and October 31, 2015) (4% dividend rate on liquidation value of $1,000 per share)

Stockholders’ equity:

Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock — $.01 par value (20,000 shares authorized: zero
outstanding at January 31,2016 and October 31,2015)

Common Stock — $.01 par value (19,900,000 shares authorized: 14,171,976 and 14,135,080 shares issued and

outstanding at January 31,2016 and October 31,2015, respectively)

Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Total stockholders’ equity
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited consolidated financial statements.

January 31, October 31,
2016 2015
$ 60,000 $ 39,000
8,844,000 7,420,000
1,650,000 3,916,000
2,876,000 2,387,000
1,992,000 -
15,422,000 13,762,000
145,986,000 128,951,000
99,607,000 96,067,000
3,161,000 3,047,000
18,630,000 18,508,000
9,128,000 9,035,000
$§ 291,934,000 § 269,370,000
$ 6,683,000 $ 6,611,000
6,551,000 5,841,000
3,413,000 5,864,000
729,000 767,000
1,877,000 589,000
19,253,000 19,672,000
97,204,000 89,079,000
19,546,000 19,425,000
5,649,000 7,641,000
21,114,000 -
162,766,000 135,817,000
2,950,000 2,950,000
9,331,000 9,331,000
141,000 141,000
90,962,000 90,759,000
22,439,000 27,216,000
3,345,000 3,156,000
116,887,000 121,272,000
$ 291,934,000 $ 269,370,000




Net revenues:
Agribusiness
Rental operations
Real estate development
Total net revenues
Costs and expenses:
Agribusiness
Rental operations
Real estate development
Selling, general and administrative
Total costs and expenses
Operating loss
Other income:
Interest expense, net
Equity in earnings of investments
Other income, net
Total other income

Loss before income tax benefit

Income tax benefit
Net loss
Preferred dividends

Net loss applicable to common stock
Basic net loss per common share
Diluted net loss per common share

Dividends per common share

Limoneira Company

Consolidated Statements of Operations (unaudited)

Weighted-average common shares outstanding-basic
Weighted-average common shares outstanding-diluted

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited consolidated financial statements.

Three months ended

January 31,
2016 2015
23,567,000 $ 26,883,000
1,408,000 1,118,000
12,000 10,000
24,987,000 28,011,000
25,472,000 25,814,000
949,000 805,000
1,436,000 242,000
3,464,000 3,667,000
31,321,000 30,528,000
(6,334,000) (2,517,000)
(219,000) (12,000)
114,000 85,000
360,000 241,000
255,000 314,000
(6,079,000) (2,203,000)
2,167,000 755,000
(3,912,000) (1,448,000)
(158,000) (159,000)
(4,070,000) $ (1,607,000)
029) $ 0.11)
0.29) $ 0.11)
005 $ 0.04
14,148,000 14,098,000
14,148,000 14,098,000




Limoneira Company
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss (unaudited)

Three months ended

January 31,
2016 2015

Net loss $ (3,912,000) $ (1,448,000)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:

Minimum pension liability adjustment 113,000 149,000

Unrealized holding gains (losses) of security available-for-sale 75,000 (2,545,000)

Unrealized gains (losses) from derivative instrument 1,000 (173,000)
Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 189,000 (2,569,000)
Comprehensive loss $  (3,723,0000 $§  (4,017,000)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited consolidated financial statements.




Operating activities
Net loss

Limoneira Company

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (unaudited)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization
Loss on disposal of assets
Stock compensation expense
Equity in earnings of investments
Cash distributions from equity investments
Accrued interest on note receivable
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net
Cultural costs
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Income taxes receivable
Other assets
Accounts payable and growers payable
Accrued liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities

Investing activities

Capital expenditures

Proceeds from sale of LLC interest
Agriculture property acquisition
Equity investment contributions
Investments in mutual water companies
Net cash used in investing activities

Financing activities

Borrowings of long-term debt
Repayments of long-term debt

Dividends paid — common

Dividends paid — preferred

Exchange of common stock

Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase in cash

Cash at beginning of period

Cash at end of period

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited consolidated financial statements.

Three months ended

January 31,

2016 2015
(3,912,000) $ (1,448,000)
1,128,000 989,000

30,000 160,000
393,000 569,000
(114,000) (85,000)

- 313,000
(5,000) (12,000)
(1,424,000) (4,083,000)
2,266,000 2,132,000
(539,000) (23,000)
(1,992,000) (755,000)
178,000 98,000
237,000 622,000
(1,762,000) (4,403,000)
159,000 86,000
(5,357,000) (5,840,000)
(5,861,000) (7,065,000)
18,000,000 -
(15,098,000) -
- (9,000)

(8,000) (8,000)
(2,967,000) (7,082,000)
60,225,000 36,960,000
(50,824,000) (22,957,000)
(708,000) (635,000)
(158,000) (159,000)
(190,000) (275,000)
8,345,000 12,934,000
21,000 12,000
39,000 92,000
60,000 § 104,000




Limoneira Company

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (unaudited) (continued)

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information
Cash paid during the period for interest (net of amounts capitalized)
Cash paid during the period for income taxes, net of refunds received
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Unrealized holding (gain) loss on Calavo investment
Increase in real estate development and sale-leaseback deferral
Settlement of lease obligation related to agricultural property acquisition
Capital expenditures accrued but not paid at period-end
Accrued interest on note receivable
Accrued contribution obligation of investment in water company
Accrued Series B-2 Convertible Preferred Stock dividends

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited consolidated financial statements.

Three months ended

January 31,
2016 2015
$ 227,000 $ (12,000)
$ 5,000 $ =
$ (122,000) $ 4,215,000
$ 1,114,000 $ -
$ (739,000) $ -
$ 325,000 $ 1,261,000
$ 5,000 $ 12,000
$ 270,000 $ 270,000
$ 31,000 $ 31,000




Limoneira Company
Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)
Preface

The preparation of the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements requires management to make use of estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amount of assets and liabilities, revenue and expenses and certain financial statement disclosures. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The unaudited interim consolidated financial statements for the three months ended January 31, 2016 and 2015 and balance sheet as of January 31, 2016
included herein have not been audited by an independent registered public accounting firm, but in management’s opinion, all adjustments (consisting of
normal recurring adjustments) necessary to make a fair statement of the financial position at January 31, 2016 and the results of operations and the cash flows
for the periods presented herein have been made. The results of operations for the three months ended January 31,2016 are not necessarily indicative of the
operating results expected for the full fiscal year.

The consolidated balance sheet at October 31,2015 included herein has been derived from the audited consolidated financial statements at that date but does
not include all of the information and footnotes required by U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) for complete financial statements.

The unaudited interim consolidated financial statements included herein have been prepared pursuant to the rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). Although we believe the disclosures made are adequate to make the information presented not misleading, certain
information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP have been condensed or omitted pursuant
to such rules or regulations. These unaudited interim consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements and notes thereto included in the Company’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2015.




Limoneira Company
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)
1. Business

Limoneira Company, a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), engages primarily in growing citrus and avocados, picking and hauling citrus and packing,
marketing and selling lemons. The Company is also engaged in residential rentals and other rental operations and real estate development activities.

The Company markets and sells lemons directly to food service, wholesale and retail customers throughout the United States, Canada, Asia and other
international markets. The Company is a member of Sunkist Growers, Inc. (“Sunkist™), an agricultural marketing cooperative, and sells its oranges, specialty
citrus and other crops to Sunkist-licensed and other third-party packinghouses.

The Company sells all of its avocado production to Calavo Growers, Inc. (“Calavo”), a packing and marketing company listed on NASDAQ under the symbol
CVGW. Calavo’s customers include many of the largest retail and food service companies in the United States and Canada. The Company’s avocados are
packed by Calavo, sold and distributed under Calavo brands to its customers.

The unaudited interim consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and the accounts of all the subsidiaries and investments in
which a controlling interest is held by the Company. The unaudited interim consolidated financial statements represent the consolidated balance sheets,
consolidated statements of operations, consolidated statements of comprehensive loss and consolidated statements of cash flows of the Company and its
wholly-owned subsidiaries. The Company’s subsidiaries include: Limoneira International Division, LLC, Limoneira Mercantile, LLC, Windfall Investors,
LLC, Templeton Santa Barbara, LLC, Associated Citrus Packers, Inc. (“Associated”), Limoneira Chile, SpA and Limoneira EA1 Land, LLC. All significant
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The Company considers the criteria established under the Financial
Accounting Standards Board — Accounting Standards Code (“FASB ASC”) 810, Consolidations and the effect of variable interest entities, in its
consolidation process. These unaudited consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the notes thereto included in this quarterly
report.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Reclassifications and Adjustments

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior years’ consolidated financial statements to conform to the January 31,2016 presentation.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Financial Accounting Standards Board — Accounting Standards Update (“FASB ASU”) 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606).

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606).” This ASU affects any entity that either enters into

contracts with customers to transfer goods or services or enters into contracts for the transfer of nonfinancial assets unless those contracts are within the scope
of other standards (e.g., insurance contracts or lease contracts). This ASU will supersede the revenue recognition requirements in Topic 605, Revenue
Recognition, and most industry-specific guidance. This ASU also supersedes some cost guidance included in Subtopic 605-35, Revenue Recognition —
Construction-Type and Production-Type Contracts. In addition, the existing requirements for the recognition of a gain or loss on the transfer of nonfinancial
assets that are not in a contract with a customer (e.g., assets within the scope of Topic 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment, and tangible assets within the

scope of Topic 350, Intangibles — Goodwill and Other) are amended to be consistent with the guidance on recognition and measurement (including the
constraint on revenue) in this ASU.

10




Limoneira Company
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited) (continued)
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

The core principle of the guidance is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. To achieve that core principle, an entity
should apply the following steps:

e Identify the contract(s) with a customer.

e Identify the performance obligations in the contract.

e Determine the transaction price.

e Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract.
e Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

The amendments in this ASU are effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim periods within that reporting
period. Early application is not permitted. The Company is evaluating the effect this ASU may have on its consolidated financial statements.

Financial Accounting Standards Board — Accounting Standards Update (“FASB ASU”) 2014-15, Presentation of Financial Statements—Going Concern
(Subtopic 205-40): Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern

The amendments in ASU 2014-15 are intended to define management’s responsibility to evaluate whether there is substantial doubt about an organization’s
ability to continue as a going concern and to provide related footnote disclosures. Under GAAP, financial statements are prepared under the presumption that
the reporting organization will continue to operate as a going concern, except in limited circumstances. The going concern basis of accounting is critical to
financial reporting because it establishes the fundamental basis for measuring and classifying assets and liabilities. Currently, GAAP lacks guidance about
management’s responsibility to evaluate whether there is substantial doubt about the organization’s ability to continue as a going concem or to provide
related footnote disclosures. This ASU provides guidance to an organization’s management, with principles and definitions that are intended to reduce
diversity in the timing and content of disclosures that are commonly provided by organizations today in the financial statement footnotes.

The amendments in this ASU are effective for annual periods ending after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2016. Early application is permitted for annual or interim reporting periods for which the financial statements have not previously been issued.
The Company is evaluating the effect this ASU may have on its consolidated financial statements.

FASB Accounting Standards Update No. 2015-03, Interest—Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30): Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs
The amendments in this ASU require that debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction
from the carrying amount of that debt liability, consistent with debt discounts. The recognition and measurement guidance for debt issuance costs are not
affected by the amendments in this ASU.

The amendments are effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15,2015, and interim periods within those fiscal years.
Retrospective adoption is required. The Company has early adopted this guidance as of January 31, 2016 and has reclassified debt issuance costs of
$144,000 and $156,000 from other long-term assets to long-term debt as of January 31,2016 and October 31,2015, respectively.

FASB Accounting Standards Update No. 2015-11, Inventory (Topic 330).: Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory

The amendments in this ASU do not apply to inventory that is measured using last-in, first-out (LIFO) or the retail inventory method. The amendments apply
to all other inventory, which includes inventory that is measured using first-in, first-out (FIFO) or average cost.

An entity should measure in scope inventory at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling prices in the ordinary

course of business, less reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal, and transportation. Subsequent measurement is unchanged for inventory
measured using LIFO or the retail inventory method.

11




Limoneira Company
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited) (continued)
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

The amendments in this ASU more closely align the measurement of inventory in GAAP with the measurement of inventory in International Financial
Reporting Standards.

For public business entities, the amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim periods within those fiscal
years. For all other entities, the amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2017. The amendments should be applied prospectively with earlier application permitted as of the beginning of an interim or
annual reporting period. The Company does not expect the adoption of this guidance to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

FASB Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 832)
Under the new guidance, lessees will be required to recognize the following for all leases (with the exception of short-term leases) at the commencement date:

e Alease liability, which is a lessee‘s obligation to make lease payments arising from a lease, measured on a discounted basis; and
e Aright-of-use asset, which is an asset that represents the lessee’s right to use, or control the use of, a specified asset for the lease term.

Under the new guidance, lessor accounting is largely unchanged. Certain targeted improvements were made to align, where necessary, lessor accounting with
the lessee accounting model and Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

The new lease guidance simplified the accounting for sale and leaseback transactions primarily because lessees must recognize lease assets and lease
liabilities. Lessees will no longer be provided with a source of off-balance sheet financing.

Public business entities should apply the amendments in ASU 2016-02 for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within
those fiscal years. Nonpublic business entities should apply the amendments for fiscal years beginning after December 15,2019 and interim periods within
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. Early application is permitted for all public business entities and all nonpublic business entities upon
issuance.

Lessees (for capital and operating leases) and lessors (for sales-type, direct financing, and operating leases) must apply a modified retrospective transition
approach for leases existing at, or entered into after, the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the financial statements. The modified
retrospective approach would not require any transition accounting for leases that expired before the earliest comparative period presented. Lessees and
lessors may not apply a full retrospective transition approach. The Company is evaluating the effect this ASU may have on its consolidated financial
statements.

3. Agriculture Property Acquisition

In September 2015, the Company entered into a purchase agreement to acquire 757 acres of lemon, orange and specialty citrus orchards in California’s San
Joaquin Valley, for $15,148,000. The orchards were acquired pursuant to purchase options contained in the Sheldon Ranches operating leases. The Company
paid a deposit of $50,000 in September 2015 and escrow closed in December 2015, at which time the remaining $15,098,000 was paid. This acquisition was
accounted for as an asset purchase and included in property, plant and equipment in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet at January 31, 2016.
Additionally, the Company incurred $111,000 of transaction costs which were capitalized as a component of land value. The purchase price includes the

settlement of the balance of the lease obligation as of the closing of the acquisition in the amount of $739,000.

12




Limoneira Company
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited) (continued)
3. Agriculture Property Acquisition (continued)

The following is a summary of the fair value of the assets acquired on the date of acquisition based on a third-party valuation, which is considered a Level 3
fair value measurement under FASB ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures:

Land $ 11,560,000
Land improvements 1,800,000
Buildings and building improvements 110,000
Orchards 1,050,000
Fair value of assets acquired $ 14,520,000

4. Fair Value Measurements

Under the FASB ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement and Disclosures, a fair value measurement is determined based on the assumptions that a market
participant would use in pricing an asset or liability. A three-tiered hierarchy draws distinctions between market participant assumptions based on (i)
observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets (Level 1), (ii) inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are observable either directly or
indirectly (Level 2) and (iii) unobservable inputs that require the Company to use present value and other valuation techniques in the determination of fair
value (Level 3).

The following table sets forth the Company’s financial assets and liabilities as of January 31, 2016 and October 31,2015, which are measured on a recurring
basis during the period, segregated by level within the fair value hierarchy:

January 31,2016 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets at fair value:

Available-for-sale securities $ 18,630,000 $ - $ - $ 18,630,000
Liabilities at fair value:

Derivative $ - 8 1,700,000 $ - $ 1,700,000
October 31,2015 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets at fair value:

Available-for-sale securities $ 18,508,000 $ - $ - $ 18,508,000
Liabilities at fair value:

Derivative $ - 3 1,702,000 $ - $ 1,702,000

Available-for-sale securities consist of marketable securities in Calavo common stock. The Company currently owns 360,000 shares, representing
approximately 2.1% of Calavo’s outstanding common stock. These securities are measured at fair value by quoted market prices. Calavo’s stock price at
January 31,2016 and October 31,2015 was $51.75 and $51.41 per share, respectively.

The derivative consists of an interest rate swap, the fair value of which is estimated using industry-standard valuation models. Such models project future
cash flows and discount the future amounts to a present value using market-based observable inputs.

5. Accounts Receivable

The Company grants credit in the course of its operations to customers, cooperatives, companies and lessees of the Company’s facilities. The Company
performs periodic credit evaluations of its customers’ financial condition and generally does not require collateral. The Company provides allowances on its
receivables, as required, based on accounts receivable aging and certain other factors. As of January 31, 2016 and October 31, 2015 the allowances totaled
$191,000 and $390,000, respectively.

6. Concentrations

Lemons procured from third-party growers were 60% of lemon supply in the three months ended January 31,2016, of which one third-party grower was 22%
of lemon supply.

The Company sells all of its avocado production to Calavo.

13




Limoneira Company
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited) (continued)
7. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consist of the following:

January 31, October 31,
2016 2015
Prepaid insurance $ 647,000 $ 598,000
Prepaid supplies 1,173,000 1,064,000
Lemon supplier advances - 35,000
Deposits 128,000 129,000
Other 928,000 561,000

$ 2,876,000 $ 2,387,000

8. Real Estate Development Assets

Real estate development assets consist of the following:

January 31, October 31,
2016 2015
Investment in East Area 1 $ 60,522,000 $ 57,076,000
East Area 2 2,155,000 2,151,000
Templeton Santa Barbara, LLC 11,039,000 11,039,000
Windfall Investors, LLC 25,891,000 25,801,000

$ 99,607,000 § 96,067,000

East Areas 1 and 2

In fiscal year 2005, the Company began capitalizing the costs of two real estate development projects east of Santa Paula, California, for the development of
550 acres of land into residential units, commercial buildings and civic facilities. During the three months ended January 31,2016 and 2015, the Company
capitalized $3,450,000 and $1,007,000, respectively, of costs related to these real estate development projects. Additionally, in relation to these projects, the
Company incurred expenses of $1,151,000 and $4,000 in the three months ended January 31,2016 and 2015, respectively.

On November 10,2015, (the “Transaction Date”) the Company entered into a joint venture with The Lewis Group of Companies (“Lewis”) for the residential
development of its East Area I real estate development project. To consummate the transaction, the Company formed Limoneira Lewis Community Builders,
LLC (the “LLC” or “Joint Venture”) as the development entity, contributed its East Area I property to the LLC and sold a 50% interest in the LLC to Lewis
for $20,000,000, comprised of a $2,000,000 deposit received in September 2015 and $18,000,000 received on Transaction Date. The Company received net
cash of approximately $18,800,000 after transaction costs of approximately $1,200,000, which were expensed in the first quarter of fiscal year 2016. In
addition, on the Transaction Date, the Company incurred a Success Fee with Parkstone Companies, Inc., in the amount of $2,100,000, which was paid on
January 28,2016 and capitalized as a component of the Company’s investment in the LLC.

On the Transaction Date, the LLC and Lewis also entered into a limited liability company agreement (the “LLC Agreement”) providing for the admittance of
Lewis as a 50% member of the Joint Venture. The LLC Agreement provides that Lewis will serve as the manager of the Joint Venture with the right to
manage, control, and conduct its day-to-day business and development activities. Certain major decisions, which are enumerated in the LLC Agreement,
require approval by an executive committee comprised of two representatives appointed by Lewis and two representatives appointed by the Company.

Pursuant to the LLC Agreement, the Joint Venture will own, develop, subdivide, entitle, maintain, improve, hold for investment, market and dispose of the
Joint Venture’s property in accordance with the business plan and budget approved by the executive committee.
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Limoneira Company
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited) (continued)
8. Real Estate Development Assets (continued)
East Areas 1 and 2 (continued)

Further, on the Transaction Date, the Joint Venture and the Company entered into a Lease Agreement (the "Lease Agreement"), pursuant to which the Joint
Venture will lease certain of the contributed East Area I property back to the Company for continuation of agricultural operations, and certain other permitted
uses, on the property until the Joint Venture requires the property for development. The Lease will terminate in stages corresponding to the Joint Venture's
development of the property, which is to occur in stages pursuant to a phased master development plan. In any event, the Lease will terminate five years from
the Transaction Date.

The Company and the Joint Venture also entered into a Retained Property Development Agreement on the Transaction Date (the "Retained Property
Agreement"). Under the terms of the Retained Property Agreement, the Joint Venture will transfer certain contributed East Area I property, which is entitled
for commercial development, back to the Company (the "Retained Property") and arrange for the design and construction of certain improvements to the
Retained Property, subject to certain reimbursements by the Company.

The Company’s sale of an interest in the LLC in which the Company’s contributed property comprises the LLC’s primary asset, combined with the Lease
Agreement is considered a sale-leaseback transaction under FASB ASC 840, Leases because of the Company’s continuing involvement in the property in the
form of its agricultural operations. Accordingly, the property continues to be carried on the consolidated balance sheet as real estate development, rather
than being classified as an equity investment and a sale-leaseback deferral has been recorded for the $20,000,000 payment made by Lewis for the purchase of
the LLC interest. Lease expense associated with the Lease Agreement is not required under sale-leaseback accounting since the Company is treated as though
it continues to own the property. During the three months ended January 31, 2016, the Company recorded $1,114,000 of real estate development and a
corresponding increase in the sale-leaseback deferral to recognize real estate development costs capitalized by the LLC. There are no repayment requirements
for the sale-leaseback deferral and as the Lease Agreement is terminated in connection with the staged development of the property, a corresponding amount
ofreal estate development and the sale-leaseback deferral will be adjusted to equity investments on the consolidated balance sheet.

Contributions made by the Company to the LLC and the Company’s proportionate share of Joint Venture’s results of operations and distributions received
by the Company from the LLC will be accounted for under the equity method.

In connection with facilitating the annexation of East Area I into the City of Santa Paula, during February 2014 the Company entered into a Capital
Improvement Cost Sharing Agreement for Improvements to Santa Paula Creek Channel (the “Cost Sharing Agreement”) with the Ventura County Watershed
Protection District (the “District”). The Cost Sharing Agreement requires the Company to reimburse the District 28.5% of the costs of the improvements, up to
a maximum of $5,000,000. Additionally, the Company is required to pay the cost of preparing a study to determine a feasible scope of work and budget for
the improvements. No costs have been incurred to date in relation to this agreement.

Templeton Santa Barbara, LLC

The three real estate development parcels within the Templeton Santa Barbara, LLC project are described as Centennial Square (“Centennial”), The Terraces
at Pacific Crest (“Pacific Crest”), and Sevilla. The net carrying values of Centennial, Pacific Crest and Sevilla at January 31,2016 and October 31, 2015 were
$2,983,000, $3,370,000 and $4,686,000, respectively. These projects were idle in the three months ended January 31, 2016 and 2015 and as such, no costs
were capitalized. Additionally, in relation to these parcels, the Company incurred expenses of $43,000 in the three months ended January 31,2016 and 2015.

Windfall Investors, LLC
On November 15, 2009, the Company acquired Windfall Investors, LLC, which included $16,842,000 of real estate development assets. Real estate
development activities are currently idle except for vineyard development which began in fiscal year 2014. During the three months ended January 31,2016

and 2015, the Company capitalized $90,000 and $150,000, respectively, of costs related to vineyard development. Additionally, in relation to this project,
the Company incurred net expenses of $241,000 and $185,000 during the three months ended January 31,2016 and 2015, respectively.
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Limoneira Company

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited) (continued)
9. Investment in Calavo Growers, Inc.
In June 2005, the Company entered into a stock purchase agreement with Calavo. Pursuant to this agreement, the Company purchased 1,000,000 shares, or
approximately 6.9%, of Calavo’s common stock for $10,000,000 and Calavo purchased 1,728,570 shares, or approximately 15.1%, of the Company’s
common stock, for $23,450,000. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company received net cash consideration of $13,450,000. The Company has
classified its marketable securities investment as available-for-sale.
In fiscal year 2009, the Company sold 335,000 shares of Calavo stock for a total of $6,079,000, recognizing a gain of $2,729,000. In fiscal year 2013, the
Company sold 165,000 shares to Calavo for a total of $4,788,000, recognizing a gain of $3,138,000. In fiscal year 2015, the Company sold 140,000 shares to
Calavo for a total 0f $6,433,000, recognizing a gain of $5,033,000. The Company continues to own 360,000 shares of Calavo common stock.
Additionally, changes in the fair value of the available-for-sale securities result in unrealized holding gains and losses on shares held by the Company and
reclassifications of unrealized gains on securities sold by the Company. The Company recorded unrealized holding gains and (losses) of $122,000 ($75,000
net of tax) and (84,215,000) (($2,545,000) net of tax) during the three months ended January 31,2016 and 2015, respectively.
10. Other Assets

Other assets consist of the following:

January 31, October 31,
2016 2015
Investments in mutual water companies $ 4,309,000 $ 4,031,000
Acquired water and mineral rights 1,536,000 1,536,000
Deferred lease assets and other 1,605,000 1,753,000
Note receivable 594,000 589,000
Acquired trade names and trademarks, net 404,000 446,000
Goodwill 680,000 680,000

$ 9,128,000 $ 9,035,000

11. Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consist of the following:

January 31, October 31,
2016 2015
Compensation $ 1,044,000 $ 1,655,000
Income taxes - 180,000
Property taxes 193,000 541,000
Interest 266,000 263,000
Deferred rental income and deposits 869,000 892,000
Lease expense 93,000 827,000
Lemon supplier payables 66,000 788,000
Capital expenditures and other 882,000 718,000

$ 3,413,000 $ 5,864,000
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited) (continued)
12. Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt is comprised of the following:

January 31, October 31,
2016 2015
Rabobank revolving credit facility: the interest rate is variable based on the one-month London Interbank Offered
Rate (“‘LIBOR”), which was 0.42% at January 31, 2016, plus 1.80%. Interest is payable monthly and the principal is
due in full in June 2018. $ 83,382,000 § 83,834,000
Farm Credit West term loan: the interest rate is variable and was 2.95% at January 31,2016. The loan is payable in
quarterly installments through November 2022. 4,102,000 4,235,000
Farm Credit West non-revolving line of credit: the interest rate is variable and was 2.95% at January 31, 2016.
Interest is payable monthly and the principal is due in full in May 2018. 492,000 492,000
Farm Credit West term loan: the interest rate is variable and was 2.95% at January 31, 2016. The loan is payable in
monthly installments through October 2035. 1,249,000 1,263,000
Wells Fargo term loan: the interest rate is fixed at 3.58%. The loan is payable in monthly installments through
January 2023. 10,000,000 -
Subtotal 99,225,000 89,824,000
Less deferred financing costs 144,000 156,000
Total long-term debt, net 99,081,000 89,668,000
Less current portion 1,877,000 589,000
Long-term debt, less current portion $ 97,204,000 $ 89,079,000

The Rabobank revolving credit facility provides for maximum borrowings of $100,000,000 and the borrowing capacity based on collateral value was
$92,556,000 at January 31,2016.

The Company entered into a $10,000,000 term loan (the “Term Loan”) on January 20, 2016 with Wells Fargo Equipment Finance, Inc. (“Wells Fargo”) with
security on the loan comprised of certain equipment associated with the Company’s new packing facilities. The Term Loan is payable in monthly
installments through January 2023 and bears interest at 3.58%. The Term Loan contains affirmative and restrictive covenants including, among other
customary covenants and default provisions, a requirement that the Company maintain a debt service coverage ratio, as defined in the loan agreement, of less
than 1.25 to 1.0 measured annually at October 31. The Term Loan includes a prepayment penalty of 2% of the unpaid balance for the first eighteen months,
with no prepayment penalty thereafter.

On February 20,2016, the Company entered into a loan agreement with Farm Credit West and repaid the Farm Credit West non-revolving line of credit in full
as further described in Note 21.

Interest is capitalized on non-bearing orchards, real estate development projects and significant construction in progress. Interest of $507,000 and $609,000
was capitalized during the three months ended January 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and is included in property, plant and equipment and real estate
development in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.




Limoneira Company
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited) (continued)
13. Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Company enters into interest rate swaps to minimize the risks and costs associated with its financing activities. Derivative financial instruments are as
follows:

Notional Amount Fair Value Liability
January 31, October 31, January 31, October 31,
2016 2015 2016 2015
Pay fixed-rate, receive floating-rate forward interest rate swap, beginning
July 2013 until June 2018 $ 40,000,000 $ 40,000,000 $ 1,700,000 § 1,702,000

In November 2011, the Company entered into a forward interest rate swap agreement with Rabobank International, Utrecht to fix the interest rate at 4.30% on
$40,000,000 of'its outstanding borrowings under the Rabobank line of credit beginning July 2013 until June 2018. This interest rate swap qualifies as a cash
flow hedge and is accounted for as a hedge under the short-cut method. Therefore, the fair value liability is included in fair value of derivative instrument,
other long-term liabilities and related accumulated other comprehensive income at January 31,2016 and October 31, 2015.

14. Basic and Diluted Net Loss per Share

Basic net loss per common share is calculated using the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period without consideration of
the dilutive effect of conversion of preferred stock. Diluted net loss per common share is calculated using the weighted-average number of common shares
outstanding plus the dilutive effect of conversion of preferred stock. The Series B and Series B-2 convertible preferred shares were excluded from the
computation of diluted net loss per common share for the three months ended January 31,2016 and 2015 because such shares were anti-dilutive.

Unvested stock-based compensation awards that contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends as participating shares are included in computing earnings per
share using the two-class method. The Company’s unvested, restricted stock awards qualify as participating shares.

15. Related-Party Transactions

The Company rents certain of its residential housing assets to employees on a month-to-month basis. The Company recorded $151,000 and $156,000 of
rental income from employees in the three months ended January 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. There were no rental payments due from employees at
January 31,2016 and October 31, 2015.

The Company has representation on the boards of directors of the mutual water companies in which the Company has investments. The Company recorded
capital contributions and purchased water and water delivery services from the mutual water companies, in aggregate, of $653,000 and $586,000 in the three
months ended January 31,2016 and 2015, respectively. Capital contributions are included in other assets in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets and
purchases of water and water delivery services are included in agribusiness expense in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. Payments due to
the mutual water companies were, in aggregate, $292,000 and $175,000 at January 31,2016 and October 31,2015, respectively.

The Company has representation on the board of directors of a non-profit cooperative association that provides pest control services for the agricultural
industry. The Company purchased services and supplies of $456,000 and $342,000 from the association in the three months ended January 31, 2016 and
2015, respectively. Such amounts are included in agribusiness expense in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. Payments due to the
association were $22,000 and $142,000 at January 31,2016 and October 31,2015, respectively.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited) (continued)
15. Related-Party Transactions (continued)

The Company recorded dividend income of $288,000 and $375,000 in the three months ended January 31,2016 and 2015, respectively, on its investment in
Calavo, which is included in other income, net in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. The Company had $2,000 and $6,000 of avocados
sales to Calavo for the three months ended January 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Such amounts are included in agribusiness revenues in the Company’s
consolidated statements of operations. There were no amounts that were receivable by the Company from Calavo at January 31,2016 and October 31, 2015.
Additionally, the Company leases office space to Calavo and received rental income of $68,000 in each of the three months ended January 31, 2016 and
2015. Such amounts are included in rental revenues in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.

Certain members of the Company’s board of directors market lemons through the Company pursuant to its customary marketing agreements. During the three
months ended January 31,2016 and 2015, the aggregate amount of lemons procured from entities owned or controlled by members of the Company’s board
of directors was $55,000 and $56,000, respectively, which is included in agribusiness expense in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.
Payments due to these Board members were zero and $531,000 at January 31,2016 and October 31,2015, respectively.

On July 1,2013, the Company and Cadiz Real Estate, LLC (“Cadiz”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Cadiz, Inc., entered into a long-term lease agreement (the
“Lease”) for a minimum of 320 acres, with options to lease up to an additional 960 acres, located within 9,600 zoned agricultural acres owned by Cadiz in
eastern San Bernardino County, California. The initial term of the Lease runs for 20 years and the annual base rental rate is equal to the sum of $200 per
planted acre and 20% of gross revenues from the sale of harvested lemons (less operating expenses) not to exceed $1,200 per acre per year. A member of the
Company’s Board of Directors serves as the CEO, President and a member of the board of directors of Cadiz, Inc. Additionally, this board member is an
attorney with a law firm that provided services of zero and $52,000 to the Company during the three months ended January 31,2016 and 2015, respectively.
The Company incurred lease and farming expenses of $44,000 and $9,000 in the three months ended January 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, which is
recorded in agribusiness expense in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. Payments due to Cadiz were $90,000 and $32,000 at January 31,
2016 and October 31,2015, respectively.

On February 5, 2015, the Company entered into a Modification of Lease Agreement (the “Amendment”) with Cadiz. The Amendment, among other things,
increased by 200 acres the amount of property leased by the Company under the lease agreement dated July 1, 2013. In connection with the Amendment, the
Company paid a total of $1,212,000 to acquire existing lemon trees and irrigations systems from Cadiz and a Cadiz tenant.

The Company has representation on the board of directors of Colorado River Growers, Inc. (“CRG”), a non-profit cooperative association of fruit growers
engaged in the agricultural harvesting business in Yuma County, Arizona. The Company paid harvest and third-party grower expense to CRG of $2,584,000
and $4,071,000 for the three months ended January 31,2016 and 2015, respectively. Such amounts are included in agribusiness expense in the Company’s
consolidated financial statements. Additionally, Associated provided harvest management and administrative services to CRG in the amount of $229,000
and $305,000 in the three months ended January 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Such amounts are included in agribusiness revenues in the Company’s
consolidated financial statements. There was $6,000 and $116,000 due to Associated from CRG at January 31, 2016 and October 31, 2015, respectively,
which is included in accounts receivable in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

The Company has representation on the board of directors of Yuma Mesa Irrigation and Drainage District (“YMIDD”). In December 2013, Associated entered
into an agreement, as amended in December 2014 and 2015, with YMIDD to participate in a Pilot Fallowing Program in which Associated agreed to forego its
water allocation for approximately 300 acres of land in exchange for $750 per acre through December 31, 2016, unless terminated sooner by YMIDD. In
relation to this program, during the three months ended January 31, 2016 and 2015 the Company recorded revenues of $50,000 each quarter, respectively,
and recorded losses on orchard disposals of zero and $160,000, respectively. These amounts are included in other income, net in the Company’s consolidated
statements of operations. Additionally, the Company purchased water in the amounts of $17,000 and $15,000 from YMIDD during the three months ended
January 31,2016 and 2015, respectively and such amounts are included in agribusiness expenses in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.
There was $17,000 and zero receivable from YMIDD at January 31,2016 and October 31,2015, respectively.
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15. Related-Party Transactions (continued)

The Company has a 1.3% interest in Limco Del Mar, Ltd. (“Del Mar”) as a general partner and a 22.1% interest as a limited partner. The Company provides
Del Mar with farm management, orchard land development and accounting services, and received expense reimbursements of $31,000 and $39,000 in the
three months ended January 31,2016 and 2015, respectively. The Company procures lemons from Del Mar and fruit proceeds due to Del Mar were zero and
$712,000 at January 31,2016 and October 31, 2015, respectively, and are included in grower’s payable in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. In the
three months ended January 31,2016 and 2015, the Company received cash distributions of zero and $313,000, respectively, and recorded equity in earnings
ofthis investment 0f $175,000 and $183,000, respectively.

On August 14, 2014, through the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, Limoneira Chile SpA, it invested $1,750,000 for a 35% interest in Rosales S.A.
(“Rosales”), a citrus packing, marketing and sales business located in La Serena, Chile. The Company recognized zero and $119,000 of lemon sales to
Rosales in the three months ended January 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and such amounts are recorded in agribusiness revenues in the Company’s
consolidated statements of operations. Amounts due from Rosales were zero at January 31, 2016 and October 31, 2015, respectively. Additionally, the
Company recorded equity in losses of this investment of $10,000 and $46,000 and amortization of fair value basis differences of $52,000 in each of the three
months ended January 31,2016 and 2015, respectively.

16. Income Taxes
The Company’s estimated effective tax rate for the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 is approximately 35.7%, inclusive of certain discrete items.

There has been no material change to the Company’s uncertain tax position for the three months ended January 31, 2016. The Company does not expect its
unrecognized tax benefits to change significantly over the next 12 months.

The Company’s policy is to recognize interest expense and penalties related to income tax matters as a component of income tax expense. The Company has
not accrued any interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax positions as of January 31,2016.

17. Retirement Plans

The Limoneira Company Retirement Plan (the “Plan”) is a noncontributory, defined benefit, single employer pension plan, which provides retirement
benefits for all eligible employees of the Company. Benefits paid by the Plan are calculated based on years of service, highest five-year average earnings,
primary Social Security benefit and retirement age. Effective June 2004, the Company froze the Plan and no additional benefits accrued to participants

subsequent to that date. The Plan is administered by Wells Fargo Bank and Mercer Human Resource Consulting.

The Plan is funded consistent with the funding requirements of federal law and regulations. There were funding contributions of zero and $125,000 during
the three months ended January 31,2016 and 2015, respectively.

The components of net periodic benefit cost for the Plan for the three months ended January 31 were as follows:

2016 2015
Administrative expenses $ 31,000 $ 34,000
Interest cost 209,000 213,000
Expected return on plan assets (269,000) (282,000)
Recognized actuarial loss 186,000 246,000
Net periodic benefit cost $ 157,000 $ 211,000
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18. Other Long-Term Liabilities

Other long-term liabilities consist of the following:

January 31, October 31,
2016 2015
Minimum pension liability $ 4,329,000 $ 4,359,000
Fair value of derivative instrument 971,000 935,000
Contingent consideration 300,000 300,000
Deposit received for joint venture interest - 2,000,000
Deferred gain and other 49,000 47,000

$ 5,649,000 $ 7,641,000

19. Stock-based Compensation

The Company has a stock-based compensation plan (the “Stock Plan”) that allows for the grant of common stock of the Company to members of management
based on achievement of certain annual financial performance and other criteria. The number of shares granted is based on a percentage of the employee’s
base salary divided by the stock price on the grant date. Shares granted under the Stock Plan generally vest over a three year period. In December 2015,
27,424 shares of common stock with a per share value of $15.29 were granted to management under the Stock Plan for fiscal year 2015 performance, resulting
in total compensation expense of approximately $410,000, with $130,000 recognized in the year ended October 31,2015 and the balance to be recognized
over the next two years as the shares vest. In December 2014, 42,085 shares of common stock with a per share value of $25.35 were granted to management
under the Stock Plan for fiscal 2014 performance, resulting in a total compensation expense of approximately $1,071,000, with $367,000 recognized in the
year ended October 31,2014 and the balance to be recognized over the next two years as the shares vest. In December 2013, 27,091 shares of common stock
with a per share value of $26.82 were granted to management under the Stock Plan for fiscal year 2013 performance, resulting in total compensation expense
of approximately $727,000, with $253,000 recognized in the year ended December 31,2013 and the balance to be recognized over the next two years as the
shares vest. Stock-based compensation expense is included in selling, general and administrative expense and is recognized over the performance and
vesting periods as summarized below:

Three Months Ended
Performance Shares January 31,

Year Granted 2016 2015
2012 34721 § -3 33,000
2013 27,091 - 59,000
2014 42,085 88,000 88,000
2015 27,424 32,000 64,000

$ 120,000 $ 244,000

During the three months ended January 31, 2016 and 2015 members of management exchanged 12,433 and 10,907 shares, respectively of common stock
with fair value of $190,000 and $275,000, respectively, at the date of the exchanges, for the payment of payroll taxes associated with the vesting of shares
under the Company’s stock-based compensation programs.

During January 2016 and 2015, 21,905 and 15,077 shares, respectively, of common stock were granted to the Company’s non-employee directors under the

Company’s stock-based compensation plans. The Company recognized $273,000 and $325,000 of stock-based compensation to non-employee directors
during the three months ended January 31,2016 and 2015, respectively.
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20. Segment Information

The Company operates in four reportable operating segments; lemon operations, other agribusiness, rental operations and real estate development. The
reportable operating segments of the Company are strategic business units with different products and services, distribution processes and customer bases.
The lemon operations segment includes farming, harvesting and lemon packing. The other agribusiness segment includes farming and harvesting of
avocados, oranges and specialty citrus. The rental operations segment includes housing and commercial rental operations, leased land and organic recycling.
The real estate development segment includes real estate development operations. The Company does not separately allocate depreciation and amortization
to its lemon operations and other agribusiness segments. No asset information is provided for reportable segments as these specified amounts are not included
in the measure of segment profit or loss reviewed by the Company’s chief operating decision maker. The Company measures operating performance,
including revenues and operating income, of its operating segments and allocates resources based on its evaluation. The Company does not allocate selling,
general and administrative expense, other income, interest expense and income taxes, or specifically identify them to its operating segments.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2015, the Company changed the composition of its operating segments from three reportable segments to four
reportable segments by presenting lemon operations separate from other agribusiness. This change was made to align operating segments with the basis that
the chief operating decision maker uses to review financial information to make operating decisions, assess performance, develop strategy and allocate
capital resources. All prior period disclosures below have been recast to present results on a comparable basis.

Segment information for the three months ended January 31,2016 and 2015:

Three Months Ended January 31,

2016 2015
Lemon operations:
Revenues $ 21,865,000 $ 24,698,000
Costs and expenses 21,631,000 22,083,000
Operating income 234,000 2,615,000
Other agribusiness:
Revenues 1,702,000 2,185,000
Costs and expenses 2,954,000 2,940,000
Operating loss (1,252,000) (755,000)
Lemon and other agribusiness depreciation and amortization 887,000 791,000
Total agribusiness operating (loss) income (1,905,000) 1,069,000
Rental operations:
Revenues 1,408,000 1,118,000
Costs and expenses 778,000 668,000
Depreciation and amortization 171,000 137,000
Operating income 459,000 313,000
Real estate development:
Revenues 12,000 10,000
Costs and expenses 1,421,000 233,000
Depreciation and amortization 15,000 9,000
Operating loss (1,424,000) (232,000)
Selling, general and administrative expenses (3,464,000) (3,667,000)
Total operating loss $ (6,334,000) § (2,517,000)
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20. Segment Information (continued)
The following table sets forth revenues by category, by segment for three months ended January 31,2016 and 2015:

Three Months Ended January 31,

2016 2015
Lemon operations revenues $ 21,865,000 $ 24,698,000
Avocados 2,000 6,000
Navel and Valencia oranges 1,041,000 1,456,000
Specialty citrus and other crops 659,000 723,000
Other agribusiness revenues 1,702,000 2,185,000
Residential and commercial rentals 866,000 631,000
Leased land 491,000 467,000
Organic recycling 51,000 20,000
Rental operations revenues 1,408,000 1,118,000
Real estate development revenues 12,000 10,000
Total revenues $ 24987,000 $ 28,011,000

21. Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated events subsequent to January 31, 2016 through the filing date to assess the need for potential recognition or disclosure in this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Based upon this evaluation, except as described below and in the notes to the consolidate financial statements, it was
determined that no other subsequent events occurred that require recognition or disclosure in the unaudited consolidated financial statements.

Farm Credit West Term Loan

On February 16,2016, the Company entered into a Promissory Note and Loan Agreement with Farm Credit West. The loan agreement provides for a term loan
in the amount 0f $10,000,000 (“Term Loan A”) and a term loan in the amount of $7,500,000 (“Term Loan B”, together with Term Loan A, the “Term Loans™).
The Term Loans mature on March 1, 2036 and are secured by certain of the Company’s agricultural properties. Term Loan A bears interest at a fixed rate of
4.70% for the life of the loan. Term Loan B bears interest at a fixed rate of 3.62% for the first five years of the loan and at the end of such time, on March 1,
2021, unless the remaining balance of Term Loan B is repaid or fixed for an additional period, the fixed rate for Term Loan B will automatically convert to
the then current variable interest rate for which Term Loan B is eligible. The Term Loans provide for monthly principal and interest payments and are pre-
payable in whole or in part after September 1,2016.

The proceeds from the Term Loans were used to repay the Farm Credit West Line of Credit and pay down outstanding indebtedness under the revolving
credit facility the Company has with Rabobank, N.A.,

Additionally, the loan agreement includes default provisions that at the Lender’s option may cause all principal, interest and other amounts that may have
been advanced under the loan to become immediately due and payable by the Company.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Overview

Limoneira Company was incorporated in Delaware in 1990 as the successor to several businesses with operations in California since 1893. We also have
agricultural operations in Yuma, Arizona, through our subsidiary, Associated Citrus Packers Inc. (“Associated”) and in Chile in connection with our 35%
interest in Rosales S.A., a citrus packing, marketing, and sales business located in La Serena.

We are an agribusiness and real estate development company founded and based in Santa Paula, California, committed to responsibly using and managing
our approximately 10,700 acres of land, water resources and other assets to maximize long-term stockholder value. Our current operations consist of fruit
production, sales and marketing, real estate development and capital investment activities.

We are one of California’s oldest citrus growers. According to Sunkist Growers, Inc. (“Sunkist”), we are one of the largest growers of lemons in the United
States and, according to the California Avocado Commission, one of the largest growers of avocados in the United States. In addition to growing lemons and
avocados, we grow oranges and a variety of specialty citrus and other crops. We have agricultural plantings throughout Ventura, Tulare, San Bernardino, and
San Luis Obispo Counties in California and in Yuma County in Arizona, which plantings consist of approximately 4,200 acres of lemons, 1,100 acres of
avocados, 1,400 acres of oranges and 900 acres of specialty citrus and other crops. We also operate our own packinghouses in Santa Paula, California and
Yuma, Arizona, where we process, pack and sell lemons that we grow as well as lemons grown by others.

Our water resources include water rights, usage rights and pumping rights to the water in aquifers under, and canals that run through, the land we own. Water
for our farming operations is sourced from the existing water resources associated with our land, which includes rights to water in the adjudicated Santa Paula
Basin (aquifer) and the un-adjudicated Fillmore and Paso Robles Basins (aquifers). We use ground water from the San Joaquin Valley Basin and water from
water and irrigation districts in Tulare County, which is in California’s San Joaquin Valley. We also use ground water from the Cadiz Valley Basin in
California’s San Bernardino County and use surface water in Arizona from the Colorado River through the Yuma Mesa Irrigation and Drainage District
(“YMIDD”).

For more than 100 years, we have been making strategic investments in California agricultural and real estate development. We currently have four active
real estate development projects in California. These projects include multi-family housing and single-family homes comprising approximately 260
completed units and another approximately 1,800 units in various stages of planning and entitlement.

Business Division Summary

We have three business divisions: agribusiness, rental operations, and real estate development. The agribusiness division is comprised of two reportable
segments, lemon operations and other agribusiness, and includes our farming, harvesting, lemon packing and lemon sales operations. The rental operations
division includes our residential and commercial rentals, leased land operations and organic recycling. The real estate development division includes our real
estate projects and development. Financial information and discussion of our four reportable segments, lemon operations, other agribusiness, rental
operations and real estate development, are contained in the notes to the accompanying consolidated financial statements of this Quarterly Report.

Agribusiness

The agribusiness division is comprised of two of our reportable segments, lemon operations and other agribusiness, and represented approximately 95%, 95%
and 94% of our fiscal year 2015,2014 and 2013 consolidated revenues, respectively, of which lemon operations represented 79%, 77% and 68% of our fiscal
year 2015, 2014 and 2013 consolidated revenues, respectively, and other agribusiness represented 16%, 18% and 26% of our fiscal year 2015, 2014 and
2013 consolidated revenues, respectively.

We are one of the largest growers of lemons and avocados in the United States. We market and sell lemons directly to our foodservice, wholesale and retail
customers throughout the United States, Canada, Asia and other international markets. During the three months ended January 31, 2016, lemon sales were
comprised of approximately 72% in domestic and Canadian sales, 24% in sales to domestic exporters and 4% in international sales. We are a member of
Sunkist, an agricultural marketing cooperative, and we sell our oranges, specialty citrus and other crops to Sunkist-licensed and other third-party
packinghouses.
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Historically, our agribusiness operations have been seasonal in nature with quarterly revenue fluctuating depending on the timing and variety of crops being
harvested. Cultural costs in our agribusiness tend to be higher in the first and second quarters and lower in the third and fourth quarters because of the timing
of expensing cultural costs in the current year that were inventoried in the prior year. Our harvest costs generally increase in the second quarter and peak in
the third quarter coinciding with the increasing production and revenue.

Fluctuations in price are a function of global supply and demand with weather conditions, such as unusually low temperatures, typically having the most
dramatic effect on the amount of lemons supplied in any individual growing season. We believe we have a competitive advantage by maintaining our own
lemon packing operations, even though a significant portion of the costs related to these operations are fixed. As a result, cost per carton is a function of fruit
throughput. While we regularly monitor our costs for redundancies and opportunities for cost reductions, we also supplement the number of lemons we pack
in our packinghouse with additional lemons procured from other growers. Because the fresh utilization rate for our lemons, or percentage of lemons we
harvest and pack that go to the fresh market, is directly related to the quality of lemons we pack and, consequently, the price we receive per 40-pound box, we
only pack lemons from other growers if we determine their lemons are of good quality.

Our avocado producing business is important to us yet faces constraints on growth as there is little additional land that can be cost-effectively acquired to
support new avocado orchards in Southern California. Also, avocado production is cyclical as avocados typically bear fruit on a bi-annual basis with large
crops in one year followed by smaller crops the next year. While our avocado production can be volatile, the profitability and cash flow realized from our
avocados frequently offsets occasional losses in other crops we grow and helps to diversify our fruit production base.

In addition to growing lemons and avocados, we grow oranges, specialty citrus and other crops, typically utilizing land not suitable for growing high quality
lemons. We regularly monitor the demand for the fruit we grow in the ever-changing marketplace to identify trends. For instance, while per capita
consumption of oranges in the United States has been decreasing since 2000 primarily as a result of consumers increasing their consumption of mandarin
oranges and other specialty citrus, the international market demand for U.S. oranges has increased. As a result, we have focused our orange production on
high quality late season Navel oranges primarily for export to Japan, China and Korea, which are typically highly profitable niche markets. We produce our
specialty citrus and other crops in response to consumer trends we identify and believe that we are a leader in the niche production and sale of certain of these
high margin fruits. Because we carefully monitor the respective markets of specialty citrus and other crops and we believe that demand for the types and
varieties of specialty citrus and other crops that we grow will continue to increase throughout the world.

Rental Operations Division

Our rental operations division is provided for in our financial statements as its own reportable segment and includes our residential and commercial rentals,
leased land operations and organic recycling. Our rental operations division represented approximately 5%, 4% and 5% of our consolidated revenues in
fiscal years 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Our residential rental units generate reliable cash flows which we use to partially fund the operations of all
three of our business divisions and provide affordable housing to many of our employees, including our agribusiness employees; a unique employment
benefit that helps us maintain a dependable, long-term employee base. In addition, our leased land business provides us with a typically profitable
diversification. Revenue from our rental operations segment is generally level throughout the year.

Real Estate Development Division

Our real estate development division is provided for in our financial statements as its own reportable segment and includes our real estate development
operations. The real estate development division represented 1% of our consolidated revenues in each of fiscal years 2015,2014 and 2013. We recognize that
long-term strategies are required for successful real estate development activities. Our goal is to redeploy real estate earnings and cash flow into the
expansion of our agribusiness and other income producing real estate.

Water Resources and California Drought

Our water resources include water rights, usage rights and pumping rights to the water in aquifers under, and canals that run through, the land we own. Water
for our farming operations is sourced from the existing water resources associated with our land, which includes rights to water in the adjudicated Santa Paula
Basin (aquifer) and the un-adjudicated Fillmore and Paso Robles Basins (aquifers). We use ground water and water from local water and irrigation districts in
California’s Tulare County, which is in the San Joaquin Valley. Following our acquisition of Associated we began using surface water in Arizona from the
Colorado River through the YMIDD.
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California has historically experienced periods of below average precipitation. Currently, it is experiencing one of its most severe droughts on record.
Rainfall, snow levels and water content of snow pack have been significantly below historical averages. These conditions have resulted in reduced water
levels in streams, rivers, lakes, aquifers and reservoirs. The governor of California declared a drought State of Emergency in February 2014. Federal officials
oversee the Central Valley Project, California’s largest water delivery system and no water is expected to be provided to San Joaquin Valley farmers this year
and only 50% of the contracted amount will be provided to urban areas from this water system.

The impact of the drought on water consumers varies with the sources of available water. Depending on the location of our agricultural operations, we obtain
our water from aquifers, water delivered by water federal, state and local water and irrigation districts and rainfall. Our water resources include water rights,
usage rights and pumping rights to the water in aquifers under, and canals that run through, the land we own.

Water for our farming operations located in Ventura County, California is sourced from the existing water resources associated with our land, which includes
approximately 8,600 acre feet of adjudicated water rights in Santa Paula Basin (aquifer) and the un-adjudicated Fillmore Basin.

We use a combination of ground water provided by wells and water from various local water and irrigation districts in Tulare County, California which is in
the agriculturally productive San Joaquin Valley.

We use ground water provided by wells which derive water from the Cadiz Valley Basin at the Cadiz Ranch in San Bernardine, California.
Our Windfall Farms property located in San Luis Obispo County, California, obtains water from wells deriving water from the Paso Robles Basin.

Our Associated farming operations in Yuma, Arizona sources water from the Colorado River through the YMIDD, where we have access to approximately
11,700 acre feet of Class 3 Colorado River water rights.

For fiscal year 2015, irrigation costs for our agricultural operations were similar to fiscal year 2014. However, costs may increase as we pump more water than
our historical averages and federal, state and local water delivery infrastructure costs may increase to access these limited water supplies. In response to the
drought, we have an ongoing plan for irrigation improvements in fiscal year 2016 that includes drilling new wells and upgrading existing wells and irrigation
systems.

We believe we have access to adequate supplies of water for our agricultural operations as well as our real estate development and rental operations segments
of our business and currently do not anticipate the California drought will have a material impact our operating results. However, if the current drought
conditions persist or worsen or if regulatory responses to such conditions limit our access to water, our business could be negatively impacted by these
conditions and responses in terms of access to water and or cost of water.

Recent Developments

A project to double the capacity and increase the efficiency of our lemon packing facilities was substantially completed during fiscal year 2015 and is
expected to become operational in March 2016. To date we have capitalized approximately $26.7 million and in fiscal year 2015 we capitalized
approximately $15.6 million of costs in connection with construction services and equipment related to this project. The project is expected to cost
approximately $27.0 million in the aggregate.

In September 2015 and December 2015, we completed the acquisition of 914 acres of lemon, orange and specialty citrus orchards in California’s San Joaquin
Valley for approximately $18.5 million. The orchards were acquired pursuant to purchase options contained in certain operating leases we have been party to
since 2012 for approximately 1,000 acres of lemon, orange and specialty citrus and other crops, which we refer to as the Sheldon Ranch leases.

On November 10,2015, we entered into a joint venture with The Lewis Group of Companies (“Lewis”) for the residential development of our East Area I real
estate development project. To consummate the transaction, we formed Limoneira Lewis Community Builders, LLC (the “Joint Venture”) as the development
entity, contributed our East Area I property to the Joint Venture and sold a 50% interest in the Joint Venture to Lewis for $20.0 million, comprised of a $2.0
million deposit received in September 2015 and $18.0 million received on November 10, 2015. We expect to receive $100.0 million from the Joint Venture
over the estimated 7 to 10 year life of the project. The Joint Venture partners will share in capital contributions to fund project costs until loan proceeds
and/or revenues are sufficient to fund the project. These funding requirements are currently estimated to total $10.0 to $15.0 million for each Joint Venture
partner in the first two years of the project, with a smaller amount of funding expected in the first year. We also entered to a lease agreement with the Joint
Venture to lease back a portion of the contributed property, which allows us to continue farming the property during the phased build-out of the project.
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On December 18, 2015, we drew an advance of $8.0 million from Wells Fargo Equipment Finance, Inc. and became obligated under an interim funding
agreement with Wells Fargo. The advance was obtained in connection with us financing the purchase of certain equipment associated with our new lemon
packing facilities. On January 20, 2016, we included the advance in the aggregate funding of a $10.0 million term loan pursuant to a Master Loan and
Security Agreement and a Loan Schedule with Wells Fargo, with a first priority security interest in the equipment to Wells Fargo. The interest rate is 3.58%
and the loan is payable in monthly installments through January 2023.

On February 16,2016, we entered into a Promissory Note and Loan Agreement with Farm Credit West. The loan agreement provides for a $10.0 million term
loan and a $7.5 million term loan. The term loans mature on March 1, 2036 and are secured by certain of our agricultural properties. The $10.0 million term
loan bears interest at a fixed rate 0f4.70% for the life of the loan. The $7.5 million term loan bears interest at a fixed rate 0f 3.62% for the first five years of the
loan and at the end of such time, will convert to a variable interest rate. The term loans provide for monthly principal and interest payments and are pre-
payable in whole or in part after September 1, 2016. The proceeds from the term loans were received February 19,2016 and were used to pay off the Farm
Credit West Line of Credit and pay down outstanding indebtedness under the revolving credit facility we have with Rabobank, N.A., which provides
additional availability for acquisitions and real estate development.

For fiscal year 2015, we declared cash dividends to our stockholders totaling $0.18 per common share in the aggregate amount of approximately $2.5 million
compared to a total of $0.17 per common share in the aggregate amount of approximately $2.3 million for fiscal year 2014. On December 15, 2015, we
declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.05 per common share which was paid on January 15,2016 in the aggregate amount of approximately $0.7 million to
stockholders of record on December 28, 2015. This represents an 11% increase compared to our previous quarterly dividend of $0.045 per common share.
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Results of Operations
The following table shows the results of operations for the three months ended January 31:

Quarters Ended January 31,

2016 2015
Net revenues:
Agribusiness $ 23,567,000 94% $ 26,883,000 95%
Rental operations 1,408,000 5% 1,118,000 4%
Real estate development 12,000 1% 10,000 1%
Total net revenues 24,987,000 100% 28,011,000 100%
Costs and expenses:
Agribusiness 25,472,000 81% 25,814,000 84%
Rental operations 949,000 3% 805,000 3%
Real estate development 1,436,000 4% 242,000 1%
Selling, general and administrative 3,464,000 12% 3,667,000 12%
Total costs and expenses 31,321,000 100% 30,528,000 100%
Operating income (loss):
Agribusiness (1,905,000) 1,069,000
Rental operations 459,000 313,000
Real estate development (1,424,000) (232,000)
Selling, general and administrative (3,464,000) (3,667,000)
Operating loss (6,334,000) (2,517,000)
Other income (expense):
Interest income expense, net (219,000) (12,000)
Equity in earnings of investments 114,000 85,000
Other income, net 360,000 241,000
Total other income 255,000 314,000
Loss before income tax benefit (6,079,000) (2,203,000)
Income tax benefit 2,167,000 755,000
Net loss $ (3,912,000) $ (1,448,000)

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Due to significant depreciable assets associated with the nature of our operations and interest costs associated with our capital structure, management
believes that eamings before interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”) and adjusted EBITDA, which excludes impairments on real
estate development assets when applicable, is an important measure to evaluate our Company’s results of operations between periods on a more comparable
basis. Such measurements are not prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (‘GAAP”) and should not be construed as an
alternative to reported results determined in accordance with GAAP. The non-GAAP information provided is unique to our Company and may not be
consistent with methodologies used by other companies. EBITDA is summarized and reconciled to net loss which management considers to be the most
directly comparable financial measure calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP as follows:

Three months ended January 31,

2016 2015
Net loss $ (3,912,000) $ (1,448,000)
Interest expense, net 219,000 12,000
Income tax benefit (2,167,000) (755,000)
Depreciation and amortization 1,128,000 989,000
EBITDA $  (4,732,000) $ (1,202,000)
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First Quarter of Fiscal Year 2016 Compared to the First Quarter of Fiscal Year 2015
Revenues

Total revenue for the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 was $25.0 million compared to $28.0 million for the first quarter of fiscal year 2015. The 11% decrease
of $3.0 million was primarily the result of decreased agribusiness revenue, as detailed below:

Agribusiness Revenues for the Quarters Ended January 31,

2016 2015 Change
Lemons $ 21,865,000 $ 24,698,000 $  (2,833,000) (11)%
Avocados 2,000 6,000 (4,000) (67)%
Navel and Valencia oranges 1,041,000 1,456,000 (415,000) 29)%
Specialty citrus and other crops 659,000 723,000 (64,000) (9%
Agribusiness revenues $ 23,567,000 $ 26,883,000 $ 3,316,000 (12)%

e Lemons: The decrease in the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 was primarily the result of lower volume of fresh lemons sold partially offset by higher
prices compared to the same period in fiscal year 2015. In the first three months of fiscal years 2016 and 2015, fresh lemon sales were $17.7 million
and $20.4 million, respectively, on 753,000 and 869,000 cartons of lemons sold at average per carton prices of $23.46 and $23.40, respectively. The
decrease in volume in the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 was primarily due to lower production from our orchards in Yuma, Arizona. Additionally,
lemon by-product, shipping and handling and other lemon sales were $4.2 million in the first three months of fiscal year 2016 compared to $4.3
million in the same period in fiscal year 2015.

e Avocados: No significant sales of avocados were recorded in the first quarters of fiscal years 2016 and 2015.

e Navel and Valencia oranges: The decrease in the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 was attributable to lower volume of oranges sold partially offset by
higher prices compared to the same period in fiscal year 2015. In the first quarter of fiscal year 2016, 127,000 40-pound carton equivalents of
oranges were sold at average per carton prices of $8.20 compared to 188,000 40-pound carton equivalents sold at average per carton prices of $7.97
in the first quarter of fiscal year 2015. The lower volume in the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 was primarily the result of fewer harvest days in
January due to increased rainfall compared to the same period in fiscal year 2015.

e Specialty citrus and other crops: The decrease in the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 was attributable to lower volume of specialty citrus sold
partially offset by higher prices compared to the same period in fiscal year 2015. In the first quarter of fiscal year 2016, 63,000 40-pound carton
equivalents of specialty citrus were sold at average per carton prices of $10.46 compared to 74,000 40-pound carton equivalents sold at average per
carton prices of $9.46 in the first quarter of fiscal year 2015. The lower volume in the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 was primarily the result of fewer
harvest days in January due to increased rainfall compared to the same period in fiscal year 2015.

Costs and Expenses

Total costs and expenses for the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 were $31.3 million compared to $30.5 million for the first quarter of fiscal year 2015, a 3%
increase of $0.8 million. This increase was primarily attributable to increases in our real estate development costs partially offset by decreases in our
agribusiness costs. Costs associated with our agribusiness include packing costs, harvest costs, growing costs, costs for fruit procured from third-party growers

and depreciation expense. These costs are discussed further below:

Agribusiness Costs and Expenses for the Quarters Ended January 31,

2016 2015 Change
Packing costs $ 5,954,000 $ 6,538,000 $ (584,000) 9)%
Harvest costs 2,516,000 3,319,000 (803,000) 24)%
Growing costs 6,527,000 6,167,000 360,000 6%
Third-party grower costs 9,588,000 8,999,000 589,000 7%
Depreciation and amortization 887,000 791,000 96,000 12%
Agribusiness costs and expenses $ 25,472,000 $ 25,814,000 (342,000) (D)%

29




e Packing costs: Packing costs consist of the costs to pack lemons for sale, such as labor and benefits, cardboard cartons, fruit treatments, packing and
shipping supplies and facility operating costs. The decrease in the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 is primarily attributable to lower volume of lemons
packed and sold compared to the same period in fiscal year 2015. During the first quarter of fiscal year 2016, we packed and sold 753,000 cartons of
lemons and 47,000 cartons of specialty citrus at average per carton costs of $7.44, compared to 869,000 cartons of lemons and 28,000 cartons of
specialty citrus packed and sold at average per carton costs of $7.24 during the same period in fiscal year 2015.

e Harvest costs: The decrease in the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 is primarily attributable to lower harvest volumes of lemons, oranges and specialty
citrus compared to the same period in fiscal year 2015.

e Growing costs: Growing costs, also referred to as cultural costs, consist of orchard maintenance costs such as cultivation, fertilization and soil
amendments, pest control, pruning and irrigation. The increase in the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 is primarily due to increased soil amendments
and pest control treatments for the Asian Citrus Psyllid compared to the same period in fiscal year 2015.

e Third-party grower costs: We sell lemons that we grow and fruit that we procure from other growers. The cost of procuring fruit from other growers is
referred to as third-party grower costs. The increase in the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 is primarily due to higher prices of third-party grower
lemons sold. Of the 753,000 and 869,000 cartons of lemons sold during the first quarter of fiscal years 2016 and 2015, respectively, 448,000 (60)%
and 437,000 (50)% were procured from third-party growers at average per carton prices of $21.24 and $20.37, respectively. Additionally, we
incurred $36,000 of costs for purchased, packed fruit to sell in the first quarter of fiscal year 2016, compared to $139,000 during the same period in
fiscal year 2015.

e Depreciation expense for the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 was $0.1 million higher than the first quarter of fiscal year 2015 primarily due to an
increase in assets placed into service and our acquisition of the Sheldon Ranches.

Real estate development costs and expenses were $1.4 million in the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 compared to $0.2 million in the first quarter of fiscal year
2015. The increase in the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 was primarily due to $1.2 million of transaction costs paid upon entering into a joint venture with
the Lewis Group of Companies for the residential development of our East Area I real estate development project.

Other Income/Expense

Other income, net was $0.3 million for the three months ended January 31, 2016 and is comprised primarily of $0.1 million of equity in earings of
investments and $0.3 million of dividend income received from Calavo Grower, Inc. (“Calavo”), partially offset by $0.2 million of net interest expense. Other
income, net was $0.3 million for the three months ended January 31,2015 and is comprised primarily of $0.1 million of equity in earnings of investments and
$0.4 million of dividend income received from Calavo, partially offset by $0.2 million of losses on orchard disposals related to our participation in the
YMIDD fallowing program.

Income Taxes
We recorded an estimated income tax benefit of $2.2 million in the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 on pre-tax losses of $6.1 million compared to an estimated
income tax benefit of $0.8 million on pre-tax losses of $2.2 million in the first quarter of fiscal year2015.

Our estimated effective tax rate for the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 was 35.7% inclusive of certain discrete items. In comparison, our estimated effective
tax rate for the first quarter of fiscal year 2015 was 34.3% inclusive of certain discrete items.
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Segment Results of Operations

During the fourth quarter of our fiscal year ended October 31,2015, we changed the composition of our operating segments from three reportable segments to
four reportable segments by presenting our lemon operations separate from other agribusiness. This change was made to align operating segments with the
basis that our chief operating decision maker uses to review financial information to make operating decisions, assess performance, develop strategy and
allocate capital resources. See Segment Information in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in this Quarterly Report for additional
information regarding our operating segments. All prior period information below has been recast to present results on a comparable basis.

We evaluate the performance of our lemon operations, other agribusiness, rental operations and real estate development segments separately to monitor the
different factors affecting financial results. Each segment is subject to review and evaluations related to current market conditions, market opportunities and

available resources. The following table shows the segment results of operations for the three months ended January 31,2016 and 2015:

Three Months Ended January 31,

2016 2015
Lemon operations:
Revenues $ 21,865,000 $ 24,698,000
Costs and expenses 21,631,000 22,083,000
Operating income 234,000 2,615,000
Other agribusiness:
Revenues 1,702,000 2,185,000
Costs and expenses 2,954,000 2,940,000
Operating loss (1,252,000) (755,000)
Lemon and other agribusiness depreciation and amortization 887,000 791,000
Total agribusiness operating (loss) income (1,905,000) 1,069,000
Rental operations:
Revenues 1,408,000 1,118,000
Costs and expenses 778,000 668,000
Depreciation and amortization 171,000 137,000
Operating income 459,000 313,000
Real estate development:
Revenues 12,000 10,000
Costs and expenses 1,421,000 233,000
Depreciation and amortization 15,000 9,000
Operating loss (1,424,000) (232,000)
Selling, general and administrative expenses (3,464,000) (3,667,000)
Total operating loss $ (6,334,000) $ (2,517,000)

First Quarter of Fiscal Year 2016 Compared to the First Quarter of Fiscal Year 2015
The following analysis should be read in conjunction with the previous section “Results of Operations”.
Lemon Operations

For the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 our lemon operations segment revenue was $21.9 million compared to $24.7 million for the first quarter of fiscal year
2015; an 11% decrease of $2.8 million.

Costs and expenses associated with our lemon operations segment include packing costs, harvest costs, growing costs and costs related to the fruit we procure

from third-party growers. For the first quarter of fiscal year 2016, our lemon operations costs and expenses were $21.6 million compared to $22.1 million for
the first quarter of fiscal year 2015. The 2% decrease of $0.5 million primarily consists of the following:
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e Packing costs for the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 were $0.6 million lower than the first quarter of fiscal year 2015.

e Harvest costs for the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 were $0.7 million lower than the first quarter of fiscal year 2015.

e Growing costs for the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 were $0.2 million higher than the first quarter of fiscal year 2015.

e Third-party grower costs for the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 were $0.6 million higher than the first quarter of fiscal year 2015.

Other Agribusiness

For the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 our other agribusiness segment revenue was $1.7 million compared to $2.2 million for the first quarter of fiscal year
2015. The 22% decrease of $0.5 million primarily consists of the following:

e Avocado revenue for the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 was similar to the first quarter of fiscal year 2015.

e Navel and Valencia orange revenue for the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 was $0.4 million lower than the first quarter of fiscal year 2015.

e Specialty citrus and other crop revenue for the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 was $0.1 million lower than the first quarter of fiscal year 2016.
Costs and expenses associated with our other agribusiness segment include harvest and growing costs. For the first quarter of fiscal year 2016, our other
agribusiness costs and expenses were $3.0 million compared to $2.9 million for the first quarter of fiscal year 2015. The 3% increase of $0.1 million primarily
consists of the following:

e Harvest costs for the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 were $0.1 million lower than the first quarter of fiscal year 2015.

e Growing costs for the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 were $0.2 million higher than the first quarter of fiscal year 2015.

Lemon and other agribusiness depreciation and amortization for the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 were $0.1 million higher than the first quarter of fiscal
year 2015.

Rental Operations
For the first quarter of fiscal years 2016 our rental operations had revenues of $1.4 million compared to $1.1 million in the same period of fiscal year 2015.
The $0.3 million increase in the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 is primarily due to rental revenue from to 65 additional agriculture workforce housing farm

units we began renting in May 2015.

Costs and expenses in our rental operations segment were $0.9 million in the first quarter of fiscal year 2016, compared to $0.8 million in the first quarter of
fiscal year 2015. Depreciation expense for the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 was $34,000 higher than the first quarter of fiscal year 2015.

Real Estate Development
Our real estate development segment had no significant revenues in the first quarters of fiscal years 2016 and 2015.

Costs and expenses in our real estate development segment were $1.4 million in the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 compared to $0.2 million in the first
quarter of fiscal year 2015.

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Selling, general and administrative costs and expenses include selling, general and administrative costs and other costs not allocated to the operating

segments. Selling, general and administrative costs and expenses for the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 were similar to the first quarter of fiscal year 2015.
Depreciation expense was similar quarter to quarter.
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Seasonal Operations

Historically, our agribusiness operations have been seasonal in nature with quarterly revenue fluctuating depending on the timing and variety of crops being
harvested. Cultural costs in our agribusiness tend to be higher in the first and second quarters and lower in the third and fourth quarters because of the timing
of expensing cultural costs in the current year that were inventoried in the prior year. Our harvest costs generally increase in the second quarter and peak in
the third quarter coinciding with the increasing production and revenue. Due to this seasonality and to avoid the inference that interim results are indicative
of'the estimated results for a full fiscal year, we present supplemental information for 12-month periods ended at the interim date for the current and preceding
years.

Results of Operations for the Trailing Twelve Months ended January 31,2016 and January 31,2015
The following table shows the unaudited results of operations for the trailing twelve months ended:

Twelve months ended January 31,

2016 2015
Net revenues:
Agribusiness $ 91,808,000 $ 100,701,000
Rental 5,394,000 4,624,000
Real estate development 85,000 266,000
Total net revenues 97,287,000 105,591,000
Costs and expenses:
Agribusiness 76,844,000 76,677,000
Rental 3,584,000 3,150,000
Real estate development 2,524,000 1,298,000
Impairments of real estate development assets - 435,000
Selling, general and administrative 13,569,000 14,462,000
Total costs and expenses 96,521,000 96,022,000
Operating income 766,000 9,569,000
Other income (expense):
Interest income (expense), net (355,000) 28,000
Gain on sale of stock in Calavo Growers, Inc. 5,033,000 -
Gain on sale of Wilson Ranch 935,000 -
Equity in eamnings (losses) of investments 272,000 264,000
Other income, net 529,000 436,000
Total other income 6,414,000 728,000
Income before income taxes 7,180,000 10,297,000
Income tax provision (2,562,000) (3,535,000)
Net income $ 4,618,000 § 6,762,000

Twelve Months Ended January 31,2016 Compared to the Twelve Months Ended January 31,2015
The following analysis should be read in conjunction with the previous section “Results of Operations”.

o Total revenues decreased $8.3 million in the twelve months ended January 31, 2016 compared to the twelve months ended January 31, 2015
primarily due to decreased agribusiness revenues, particularly decreased lemon, orange and pistachio sales, partially offset by increased rental
revenues.

e Total costs and expenses increased $0.5 million in the twelve months ended January 31, 2016 compared to the twelve months ended January 31,
2015 primarily due to increases in our real estate development costs partially offset by decreases in selling, general and administrative expenses. The
increase in real estate development costs is primarily due to $1.2 million of transaction costs paid upon entering a joint venture in November 2015
to develop our East Area I real estate development project. The decrease in selling, general and administrative expenses is primarily attributable to
decreased incentive compensation partially offset by increases in certain legal and consulting expenses associated with our East Area I real estate
development project.

e Total other income increased $5.7 million in the twelve months ended January 31, 2016 compared to the twelve months ended January 31, 2015
primarily due to the August 2015 gain on sale of Wilson Ranch and the October 2015 gain on sale of stock in Calavo.
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e Income tax provision decreased $1.0 million in the twelve months ended January 31, 2016 compared to the twelve months ended January 31, 2015
primarily due to a $3.1 million decrease in earnings before income taxes.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Overview

Our Company’s liquidity and capital position fluctuates during the year depending on seasonal production cycles, weather events, and demand for our
products. Typically, our second and third quarters tend to generate greater operating income than our first and fourth quarters due to the volume of fruit
harvested. To meet working capital demand and investment requirements of our agribusiness and real estate development segments and to supplement
operating cash flows, we utilize our revolving credit facility to fund agricultural inputs and farm management practices until sufficient returns from crops
allow us to repay amounts borrowed. Raw materials needed to propagate the various crops grown by us consist primarily of fertilizer, herbicides, insecticides,
fuel and water and are readily available from local sources.

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

For the first quarters of fiscal years 2016 and 2015, net cash used in operating activities was $5.4 million and $5.8 million, respectively. The significant
components of our cash flows used in operating activities as included in the unaudited consolidated statements of cash flows are as follows:

e Net loss for the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 was $3.9 million compared to $1.4 million for the first quarter of fiscal year 2015. The increase in loss
0f $2.5 million in the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 was primarily attributable to an increase in operating loss of $3.8 million offset by $1.4 million
increase in income tax benefit.

e Depreciation and amortization increased $0.1 million in the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 compared to the same period in fiscal year 2015
primarily due to an increase in assets placed into service and the acquisition of the Sheldon Ranches in September and December 2015.

e Loss on disposal of fixed assets of $0.2 million in the first quarter of fiscal year 2015 was primarily the result of expenses incurred from orchard
disposals related to the Pilot Fallowing Program agreement with YMIDD.

e Non-cash stock compensation expense was $0.4 million and $0.6 million in the first quarter of fiscal years 2016 and 2015, respectively, and is
primarily comprised of vesting of 2013, 2014 and 2015 grants to management under our stock-based compensation plan plus non-employee
directors’ stock-based compensation.

e Accounts receivable, net balance at January 31,2016 was $8.8 million compared to $7.4 million at October 31, 2015, resulting in a corresponding
decrease in operating cash flows of $1.4 million for the first quarter of fiscal year 2016. Accounts receivable, net balance was $11.3 million at
January 31,2015 compared to $7.2 million at October 31,2014, resulting in a corresponding decrease in operating cash flows of $4.1 million for the
first quarter of fiscal year 2015. Our accounts receivable balance typically increases during our fiscal first quarter primarily due to the seasonal
nature of our agribusiness operations. The decrease in operating cash flows used in the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 compared to the first quarter
of fiscal year 2015 is primarily due to fluctuations in price and volume related to agribusiness revenues.

o Cultural costs provided $2.3 million in operating cash flows in the three months ended January 31, 2016 compared to providing $2.1 million in
operating cash flows during the same period of fiscal year 2015. This increase was primarily due to an initial higher amount of capitalized cultural
costs carried at the beginning of fiscal year 2016 and the related increase in amortization of such costs during the first quarter of fiscal year 2016
compared to the same period in fiscal year2015.

e Income taxes receivable balance at January 31,2016 was $2.0 million compared to zero at October 31, 2015, resulting in a corresponding decrease
in operating cash flows of $2.0 million for the first quarter of fiscal year 2016. Income taxes receivable balance at January 31,2015 was $1.9 million
compared to $1.1 million at October 31, 2013 resulting in a corresponding decrease in operating cash flows of $0.8 million for the first quarter of
fiscal year2015.
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e Accounts payable and growers payable provided $0.2 million of cash from operating activities in the three months ended January 31, 2016
compared to $0.6 million in the same period of fiscal year 2015. The $0.2 million of cash provided in the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 was
primarily the result of a $0.8 million increase in accounts payable and growers payable offset by $0.3 million of capital expenditures accrued but
not paid at period end and $0.3 million accrued contribution obligation of investment in mutual water company. The $0.6 million of cash provided
in the first quarter of fiscal year 2015 was primarily the result of a $2.1 million increase in accounts payable and growers payable partially offset by
$1.3 million of capital expenditures accrued but not paid at period end.

e Accrued liabilities used $1.8 million in operating cash flows in the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 compared to $4.4 million in the same period of
fiscal year 2015. The $1.8 million of operating cash flows used in the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 were primarily comprised of payments for
incentive compensation, lease expense and lemon suppliers. The $4.4 million of operating cash flows used in the first quarter of fiscal year 2015
were comprised primarily of payments for income taxes and incentive compensation.

e Other long-term liabilities provided operating cash flows of $0.2 million in the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 and represented non-cash pension
expense. The $0.1 million of operating cash flows provided in the first quarter of fiscal year 2015 represented $0.2 million of non-cash pension
expense offset by $0.1 million of pension contributions.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

For the three months ended January 31, 2016, net cash used in investing activities was $3.0 million compared to $7.1 million for the same period in fiscal
year2015.

Net cash used in investing activities is primarily comprised of capital expenditures and other investing activities. Capital expenditures were $5.9 million in
the first quarter of fiscal year 2016, comprised of $3.5 million for property, plant and equipment primarily related to construction and equipment for our
lemon packing facilities and $2.4 million for real estate development projects. Additionally, in the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 we purchased 757 acres of
agriculture property for $15.1 million and received $18.0 million for a 50% interest in a joint venture that will develop our East Area I real estate
development project. Capital expenditures were $7.1 million in the first quarter of fiscal year 2015, comprised of $6.2 million for property, plant and
equipment primarily related to construction and equipment for our lemon packing facilities and additional farm worker housing units and $0.9 million for
real estate development projects.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

For the three months ended January 31, 2016, net cash provided by financing activities was $8.3 million compared to $12.9 million for the same period in
fiscal year 2015. The $4.6 million decrease in net cash flows from financing activities for the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 compared to the first quarter of
fiscal year 2015 is primarily due to net borrowings of long-term debt in the amount of $9.4 million in the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 and $14.0 million of
net borrowings in the first quarter of fiscal year 2015, which is largely the result of $0.5 million increase in cash flows from operating activities and $4.1
million increase in cash flows from investing activities in the first quarter of fiscal year 2016. Additionally, we paid common and preferred dividends of $0.9
million in the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 compared to $0.8 million in first quarter of fiscal year 2015.

Transactions Affecting Liquidity and Capital Resources

We finance our working capital and other liquidity requirements primarily through cash from operations and our Rabobank Credit Facility. In addition, we
have the Farm Credit West Term Loans, the Farm Credit West Line of Credit and the Wells Fargo Term Loan. Additional information regarding the Rabobank
Credit Facility, the Farm Credit West Term Loans, the Farm Credit West Line of Credit and the Wells Fargo Term Loan can be found in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-Q.

We believe that the cash flows from operations and available borrowing capacity from our existing credit facilities will be sufficient to satisfy our capital

expenditures, debt service, working capital needs and other contractual obligations for the remainder of fiscal year 2016. In addition, we have the ability to
control a portion of our investing cash flows to the extent necessary based on our liquidity demands.
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Rabobank Revolving Credit Facility

As of January 31, 2016, our outstanding borrowings under the Rabobank Credit Facility were $83.4 million and we had $9.2 million of availability. The
Rabobank Credit Facility currently bears interest at a variable rate equal to the one month LIBOR plus 1.80%. The interest rate resets on the first of each
month and was 2.22% at January 31, 2016. We have the ability to prepay any amounts outstanding under the Rabobank Credit Facility without penalty. The
line of credit provides for maximum borrowings of $100.0 million and the borrowing capacity based on collateral value was $92.6 million at January 31,
2016.

We have the option of fixing the interest rate under the Rabobank Credit Facility on any portion of outstanding borrowings using interest rate swaps.
Effective July 2013, our Company fixed the interest rate at 4.30% utilizing an interest rate swap on $40.0 million of the Rabobank Credit Facility. Additional
information regarding the interest rate swap can be found in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-Q.

The Rabobank Credit Facility is secured by certain of our Company’s agricultural properties and a portion of the equity interest in the San Cayetano Mutual
Water Company, and subjects our Company to affirmative and restrictive covenants including, among other customary covenants, financial reporting
requirements, requirements to maintain and repair any collateral, restrictions on the sale of assets, restrictions on the use of proceeds, prohibitions on the
incurrence of additional debt and restrictions on the purchase or sale of major assets. We are also subject to a covenant that our Company will maintain a debt
service coverage ratio, as defined in the Rabobank Credit Facility, of less than 1.25 to 1.0 measured annually at October 31, with which we were in
compliance at October 31,2015.

Farm Credit West Term Loans and Non-Revolving Credit Facility

As of January 31,2016, we had an aggregate of approximately $5.8 million outstanding under the Farm Credit West Term Loans and Farm Credit West Line
of Credit. The following provides further discussion on the term loans and non-revolving credit facility:

o Term Loan Maturing November 2022. As of January 31,2016, we had $4.1 million outstanding under the Farm Credit West Term Loan that matures
in November 2022. This term loan bears interest at a variable rate equal to an internally calculated rate based on Farm Credit West’s internal
monthly operations and their cost of funds and generally follows the changes in the 90-day treasury rates in increments divisible by 0.25% and is
payable in quarterly installments through November 2022. The interest rate resets monthly and was 2.95% at January 31, 2016. This term loan is
secured by certain of our agricultural properties.

e Term Loan Maturing October 2035. As of January 31, 2016, our wholly owned subsidiary, Windfall Investors, LLC (“Windfall”), had $1.2 million
outstanding under the Farm Credit West Term Loan that matures in October 2035. This term loan bears interest at a variable rate equal to an
internally calculated rate based on Farm Credit West’s internal monthly operations and their cost of funds and generally follows the changes in the
90-day treasury rates in increments divisible by 0.25% and is payable in monthly installments through October 2035. The interest rate resets
monthly and was 2.95% at January 31,2016. This term loan is secured by the Windfall Farms property.

e Non-Revolving Line of Credit Maturing May 2018. As of January 31,2016, we had $0.5 million outstanding under the non-revolving line of credit
that matures in May 2018. This line of credit bears interest at a variable rate equal to an internally calculated rate based on Farm Credit West’s
internal monthly operations and their cost of funds and generally follows the changes in the 90-day treasury rates in increments divisible by 0.25%
with interest payable on a monthly basis. The interest rate resets monthly and was 2.95% at January 31,2016. This line of credit is secured by certain
of our agricultural properties.

The Farm Credit West Term Loans and Farm Credit West Line of Credit contain various conditions, covenants and requirements with which our Company
and Windfall must comply. In addition, our Company and Windfall are subject to limitations on, among other things, selling, abandoning or ceasing business
operations; merging or consolidating with a third party; disposing of a substantial portion of assets by sale, transfer, gifts or lease except for inventory sales in
the ordinary course of business; obtaining credit or loans from other lenders other than trade credit customary in the business; becoming a guarantor or surety
on or otherwise liable for the debts or obligations of a third party; and mortgaging, pledging, leasing for over a year, or otherwise making or allowing the
filing of'a lien on any collateral.
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On February 16,2016, we entered into a Promissory Note and Loan Agreement with Farm Credit West. The loan agreement provides for a $10.0 million term
loan and a $7.5 million term loan. The term loans mature on March 1, 2036 and are secured by certain of our agricultural properties. The $10.0 million term
loan bears interest at a fixed rate 0f4.70% for the life of the loan. The $7.5 million term loan bears interest at a fixed rate 0f 3.62% for the first five years of the
loan and at the end of such time, will convert to a variable interest rate. The term loans provide for monthly principal and interest payments and are pre-
payable in whole or in part after September 1, 2016. The proceeds from the term loans were received February 19,2016 and were used to pay off the Farm
Credit West Line of Credit and pay down outstanding indebtedness under the revolving credit facility we have with Rabobank, N.A., which provides
additional availability for acquisitions and real estate development.

Wells Fargo Term Loan

As of January 31, 2016, we had $10.0 million outstanding under the Wells Fargo Term Loan that matures in January 2023. This term loan bears interest at a
fixed rate of 3.58% and is payable in monthly installments through January 2023. The loan is secured by certain equipment associated with our new lemon
packing facilities. The loan contains affirmative and restrictive covenants including, among other customary covenants, financial reporting requirements,
requirements to maintain and repair any collateral, restrictions on the sale of assets, restrictions on the use of proceeds, prohibitions on the incurrence of
additional debt and restrictions on the purchase or sale of major assets. We are also subject to a covenant that our Company will maintain a debt service
coverage ratio, as defined in the loan agreement, of less than 1.25 to 1.0 measured annually at October 31.

Interest Rate Swap

We enter into interest rate swap agreements to manage the risks and costs associated with our financing activities. At January 31,2016, we had an interest rate
swap agreement which locks in the interest rate on $40.0 million of our $99.2 million in debt at 4.30% until June 2018. Additional information regarding the
interest rate swap can be found in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-Q.

The remaining $59.2 million in debt bears interest at fixed and variable rates, which were 3.58% or less at January 31,2016.

Contractual Obligations

The following table presents our Company’s contractual obligations at January 31,2016 for which cash flows are fixed and determinable:

Payments due by Period
Contractual Obligations: Total <1 year 1-3 years 3-S5 years 5+ years
Fixed rate debt (principal) $ 50,000,000 $ 1,280,000 $ 42,702,000 $ 2,902,000 $ 3,116,000
Variable rate debt (principal) 49,225,000 597,000 45,120,000 1,315,000 2,193,000
Operating lease obligations 6,381,000 1,279,000 2,302,000 828,000 1,972,000
Total contractual obligations $ 105,606,000 $ 3,156,000 $ 90,124,000 $ 5,045,000 $ 7,281,000
Interest payments on fixed and variable rate debt $ 9,772,000 $ 2,997,000 $ 5,880,000 $ 575,000 $ 320,000

We believe that the cash flows from our agribusiness and rental operations business segments as well as available borrowing capacity from our existing credit
facilities will be sufficient to satisfy our future capital expenditure, debt service, working capital and other contractual obligations for the remainder of fiscal
year 2016. In addition, we have the ability to control the timing of a portion of our investing cash flows to the extent necessary based on our liquidity
demands.

Fixed Rate and Variable Rate Debt

Details of amounts included in long-term debt can be found above and in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-Q. The
table above assumes that long-term debt is held to maturity.

Interest Payments on Fixed and Variable Debt
The above table assumes that our fixed rate and long-term debt is held to maturity and the interest rates on our variable rate debt remain unchanged for the

remaining life of the debt from those in effect at January 31,2016
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Preferred Stock Dividends

In 1997, in connection with the acquisition of Ronald Michaelis Ranches, Inc., we issued 30,000 shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock at $100 par
value (the “Series B Stock”). The holders of the Series B Stock are entitled to receive cumulative cash dividends at an annual rate of 8.75% of par value. Such
dividends are payable quarterly on the first day of January, April, July and October in each year commencing July 1, 1997 and total $0.3 million annually.

During March and April 2014, we issued, in aggregate, 9,300 shares of Series B-2 Preferred Stock at $100 par value (the “Series B-2 Preferred Stock”). The
holders of the Series B-2 Preferred Stock are entitled to receive cumulative cash dividends at an annual rate of 4% of the liquidation value of $1,000 per
share. Such dividends are payable quarterly on the first day of January, April, July and October in each year commencing July 1, 2014 and total $0.4 million
annually.

Defined Benefit Pension Plan

We have a noncontributory, defined benefit, single employer pension plan (the “Plan”), which provides retirement benefits for all eligible employees of the
Company. Effective June 2004, the Company froze the Plan and no additional benefits accrued to participants subsequent to that date. We may make
discretionary contributions to the Plan and we may be required to make contributions to adhere to applicable regulatory funding provisions, based in part on
the Plan’s asset valuations and underlying actuarial assumptions. We made funding contributions of $0.4 million, $0.5 million, and $1.3 million for fiscal
years 2015,2014, and 2013, respectively and we expect to contribute approximately $0.5 million to the Plan in fiscal year2016.

Operating Lease Obligations

We have numerous operating lease commitments with remaining terms ranging from less than one year to ten years. In fiscal year 2008, we installed a one
mega-watt photovoltaic solar array on one of our agricultural properties located in Ventura County that produces a significant amount of the power to run our
lemon packinghouse. The construction of this array was financed by Farm Credit Leasing and we have a long-term lease with Farm Credit Leasing for this
array. Annual payments for this lease are $0.5 million, and at the end of ten years we have an option to purchase the array for $1.1 million. In fiscal year 2009,
we entered into a similar transaction with Farm Credit Leasing for a second photovoltaic array at one of our agricultural properties located in the San Joaquin
Valley to supply a significant amount of the power to operate four deep-water well pumps located on our property. Annual lease payments for this facility
range from $0.3 million to $0.8 million, and at the end of ten years we have the option to purchase the array for $1.3 million.

In January 2012, we entered into six operating leases for the Sheldon Ranch. Each of the leases is for ten-year terms and provides for four five-year renewal
options with an aggregate base rent of approximately $0.5 million per year. The leases also contain profit share arrangements with the landowners as
additional rent on each of the properties and a provision for the potential purchase of the properties by us in the future. We incurred $1.1 million, $1.6
million and $0.7 million of net lease expense in fiscal years 2015,2014 and 2013, respectively. We purchased substantially all of the Sheldon Ranch leased
acreage in September and December 2015 and expect lease expense on the remaining 80 leased acres to be approximately $0.1 million per year beginning
fiscal year 2016 until December 2021.

On July 1, 2013, we entered into a lease agreement with Cadiz, Inc. (“Cadiz”) to develop new lemon orchards on Cadiz’s agricultural property in eastern San
Bernardino County, California (the “Cadiz Ranch”). Under the terms of the Lease Agreement, we have the right to lease and plant up to 1,280 acres of lemons
over the next five years at the Cadiz Ranch operations in the Cadiz Valley and have leased 320 acres initially, subject to a mutually agreed upon planting
schedule. The Lease Agreement provides options to plant up to 960 additional acres (320 acres in Option 1 and 640 acres in Option 2) by 2019. The annual
rental payment includes a base rent of $200 per planted acre and a lease payment equal to 20% of net cash flow from the harvested crops grown on Cadiz
property. Pursuant to the terms of the Lease Agreement, the annual rental payment will not exceed a total of $1,200 per acre. We incurred approximately $0.1

million and $15,000 of lease expense in fiscal years 2015 and 2014, respectively.

On February 3, 2015, we entered into a Modification of Lease Agreement (the “Amendment”) with Cadiz. The Amendment, among other things, increased by
200 acres the amount of property leased by our Company under the lease agreement dated July 1, 2013. In connection with the Amendment, we paid a total
of $1.2 million to acquire existing lemon trees and irrigation systems from Cadiz and a Cadiz tenant.

We lease pollination equipment under a lease renewed through fiscal year 2022 with annual payments of $0.3 million. We also lease machinery and

equipment for our packing operations and other land for our agricultural operations under leases with annual lease commitments that are individually
immaterial.
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Real Estate Development Activities, Capital Expenditures and Related Capital Resources

On November 10, 2015 (the “Transaction Date”), we entered into a joint venture with The Lewis Group of Companies (“Lewis”) for the residential
development of our East Area I real estate development project. To consummate the transaction, we formed Limoneira Lewis Community Builders, LLC (the
“Joint Venture”) as the development entity, contributed our East Area I property to the Joint Venture and sold a 50% interest in the Joint Venture to Lewis for
$20.0 million, comprised of a $2.0 million deposit received in September 2015 and $18.0 million received on the Transaction Date. We received net cash of
approximately $18.8 million after transaction costs of approximately $1.2 million, which were expensed in the first quarter of fiscal year 2016. In addition,
on the Transaction Date, we incurred a Success Fee with Parkstone Companies, Inc., in the amount of $2.1 million, which was capitalized as a component of
our investment in the Joint Venture.

The Joint Venture agreement provides that Lewis will serve as the manager of the Joint Venture with the right to manage, control, and conduct its day-to-day
business and development activities. Certain major decisions, which are enumerated in the Joint Venture agreement, require approval by an executive
committee comprised of two representatives appointed by Lewis and two representatives appointed by Limoneira.

Pursuant to the Joint Venture agreement, the Joint Venture will own, develop, subdivide, entitle, maintain, improve, hold for investment, market and dispose
of the Joint Venture’s property in accordance with the business plan and budget approved by the executive committee.

Further on the Transaction Date, the Joint Venture and Limoneira entered into a lease agreement (the "Lease Agreement"), pursuant to which the Joint
Venture will lease certain of the contributed East Area I property back to Limoneira for continuation of agricultural operations, and certain other permitted
uses, on the property until the Joint Venture requires the property for development. The Lease Agreement will terminate in stages corresponding to the Joint
Venture's development of the property, which is to occur in stages pursuant to a phased master development plan. The Joint Venture is required to provide
Limoneira with written notice 180 days prior to the termination of any portion of the Lease Agreement. In any event, the Lease Agreement will terminate five
years from the Transaction Date.

Limoneira and the Joint Venture entity also entered into a Retained Property Development Agreement on the Transaction Date (the "Retained Property
Agreement"). Under the terms of the Retained Property Agreement, the Joint Venture will transfer certain contributed East Area I property, which is entitled
for commercial development, back to Limoneira (the "Retained Property") and arrange for the design and construction of certain improvements to the
Retained Property, subject to certain reimbursements by Limoneira.

We expect to receive approximately $100.0 million from the Joint Venture over the estimated 7 to 10 year life of the project. The Joint Venture partners will
share in capital contributions to fund project costs until project loan proceeds and or revenues are sufficient to fund the project. These funding requirements
are currently estimated to total $10.0 to $15.0 million for each Joint Venture partner in the first two years of the project, with a smaller amount of funding
expected in the first year. The Joint Venture partners may be required to provide loans guarantees for project loans.

In December 2013 we began a construction project that includes design, construction services and equipment for the expansion of our lemon packing
facilities. The project is expected to double the capacity and increase the efficiency of our packing facilities. The project is expected to be operational in
March 2016 with total construction services and equipment costs of approximately $27.0 million.

In September 2015 and December 2015, we completed the acquisition of 914 acres of lemon, orange and specialty citrus orchards in California’s San Joaquin
Valley for approximately $18.5 million. The orchards were acquired pursuant to purchase options contained in certain operating leases we have been party to
since 2012 for approximately 1,000 acres of lemon, orange and specialty citrus and other crops, which we refer to as the Sheldon Ranch leases.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future material effect on our financial condition,
revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Please see Note 2 to the unaudited consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-Q for information conceming recent accounting

pronouncements.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires us to develop critical accounting policies and make certain
estimates and judgments that may affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. We base our estimates and judgments on historical
experience, available relevant data and other information that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may materially differ from
these estimates under different assumptions or conditions as new or additional information become available in future periods. We believe the following
critical accounting policies reflect our more significant estimates and judgments used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition — As a general policy, revenue and related costs are recognized when (i) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, (ii) delivery has
occurred, (iii) selling price is fixed or determinable and (iv) collectability is reasonably assured. We record a sales allowance in the period revenue is
recognized as a provision for estimated customer discounts and concessions.

Agribusiness revenue - Revenue from lemon sales is generally recognized FOB shipping point when the customer takes possession of the fruit from our
packing house. Revenue from the sales of certain of our agricultural products is recorded based on estimated proceeds provided by certain of our sales and
marketing partners (Calavo and other third-party packinghouses) due to the time between when the product is delivered by us and the closing of the pools for
such fruits at the end of each month. Calavo and other third-party packinghouses are agricultural cooperatives or function in a similar manner as an
agricultural cooperative. As such, we apply specific authoritative agriculture revenue recognition guidance related to transactions between patrons and
agriculture marketing cooperatives to record revenue at time of delivery to the packinghouses relating to fruits that are in pools that have not yet closed at
month end if (i) the related fruits have been delivered to and accepted by Calavo and other third-party packinghouses (i.e. title has transferred to Calavo and
other third-party packinghouses) and (ii) sales price information has been provided by Calavo and other third-party packinghouses (based on the marketplace
activity for the related fruit) to estimate with reasonable certainty the final selling price for the fruit upon the closing of the pools. Historically, the revenue
that is recorded based on the sales price information provided to us by Calavo and other third-party packinghouses at the time of delivery have not materially
differed from the actual amounts that are paid after the monthly pools are closed. We also earn commissions on certain brokered fruit sales, which totaled
$114,000, $115,000 and $53,000 in fiscal years 2015,2014 and 2013, respectively.

Our avocados, oranges, specialty citrus and other specialty crops are packed and sold by Calavo and other third-party packinghouses. Specifically, we deliver
all of our avocado production from our orchards to Calavo. These avocados are then packed by Calavo at its packinghouse, and sold and distributed under
Calavo brands to its customers primarily in the United States and Canada. Our arrangements with other third-party packinghouses related to our oranges,
specialty citrus and other specialty crops are similar to our arrangement with Calavo.

Our arrangements with third-party packinghouses are such that we are the producer and supplier of the product and the third-party packinghouses are our
customers. The revenues we recognize related to the fruits sold to the third-party packinghouses are based on the volume and quality of the fruits delivered,
and the market price for such fruit, less the packinghouses’ charges to pack and market the fruit. Such packinghouse charges include the grading, sizing,
packing, cooling, ripening and marketing of the related fruit. We bear inventory risk until the product is delivered to the third-party packinghouses at which
time title and inventory risk to the product is transferred to the third-party packinghouses and revenue is recognized. Such third-party packinghouse charges
are recorded as a reduction of revenue based on the application of specific authoritative revenue recognition guidance related to a “Vendor’s Income
Statement Characterization of Consideration Given to a Customer.” The identifiable benefit we receive from the third-party packinghouses for packaging and
marketing services cannot be sufficiently separated from the third-party packinghouses’ purchase of our products. In addition, we are not able to reasonably
estimate the fair value of the benefit received from the third-party packinghouses for such services and, as such, these costs are characterized as a reduction of
revenue in our consolidated statement of operations.

Revenue from crop insurance proceeds is recorded when the amount of and the right to receive the payment can be reasonably determined. We recorded
agribusiness revenues from crop insurance proceeds of $9,000, $184,000 and $36,000 in fiscal years 2015,2014 and 2013, respectively.

Rental revenue - Minimum rental revenues are generally recognized on a straight-line basis over the respective initial lease term. Contingent rental revenues
are contractually defined as to the percentage of rent received by us and are based on fees collected by the lessee. Our rental arrangements generally require
payment on a monthly or quarterly basis.

Real estate development revenue — We recognize revenue on real estate development projects in accordance with FASB ASC 360-20, Real Estate Sales,
which provides for profit to be recognized in full when real estate is sold, provided that a sale has been consummated and profit is determinable, collection of
sales proceeds is estimable with the seller’s receivable not subject to subordination, risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer and the
earnings process is substantially complete with no significant seller activities or obligations required after the date of sale. To the extent the above conditions
are not met, a portion or all of the profit is deferred.
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Incidental operations may occur during the holding or development period of real estate development projects to reduce holding or development costs.
Incremental revenue from incidental operations in excess of incremental costs from incidental operations is accounted for as a reduction of development
costs. Incremental costs from incidental operations in excess of incremental revenue from incidental operations are charged to operations.

Real estate development costs - We capitalize the planning, entitlement, construction and development costs associated with our various real estate
projects. Costs that are not capitalized, which include property maintenance and repairs, general and administrative and marketing expenses, are expensed as
incurred. A real estate development project is considered substantially complete upon the cessation of construction and development activities. Once a
project is substantially completed, future costs are expensed as incurred. For fiscal year 2015, we capitalized approximately $8.0 million of costs related to
our real estate projects and expensed approximately $1.3 million of costs.

Income taxes — Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are computed annually for differences between the financial statement and income tax bases of
assets and liabilities that will result in taxable or deductible amounts in the future. Such deferred income tax asset and liability computations are based on
enacted tax laws and rates applicable to periods in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income. A valuation allowance is established, when
necessary, to reduce deferred income tax assets to the amount expected to be realized.

Tax benefits from an uncertain tax position are only recognized if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained upon examination by the
taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized in the financial statements from such a position are measured
based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement.

Derivative financial instruments — We use derivative financial instruments for purposes other than trading to manage our exposure to interest rates as well as
to maintain an appropriate mix of fixed and floating-rate debt. Contract terms of our hedge instruments closely mirror those of the hedged item, providing a
high degree of risk reduction and correlation. Contracts that are effective at meeting the risk reduction and correlation criteria are recorded using hedge
accounting. If a derivative instrument is a hedge, depending on the nature of the hedge, changes in the fair value of the instrument will be either offset against
the change in the fair value of the hedged assets, liabilities or firm commitments through earnings or be recognized in other comprehensive income until the
hedged item is recognized in earnings. The ineffective portion of an instrument’s change in fair value will be immediately recognized in earnings.
Instruments that do not meet the criteria for hedge accounting, or contracts for which we have not elected hedge accounting, are valued at fair value with
unrealized gains or losses reported in earnings during the period of change.

Impairment of long-lived assets - We evaluate our long-lived assets including our real estate development projects for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value of these assets may not be recoverable. As a result of various factors, in recent years we recorded impairment
charges of zero, $0.4 million and $0.1 million in fiscal years 2015,2014 and 2013, respectively.

Defined benefit retirement plan - As discussed in the notes to our consolidated financial statements, we sponsor a defined benefit retirement plan that was
frozen in June 2004, and no future benefits accrued to participants subsequent to that time. Ongoing accounting for this plan under FASB ASC 715 provides
guidance as to, among other things, future estimated pension expense, minimum pension liability and future minimum funding requirements. This
information is provided to us by third-party actuarial consultants. In developing this data, certain estimates and assumptions are used, including among other
things, discount rate, long-term rates of return and mortality tables. During 2015, the Society of Actuaries released a new mortality table, referred to as
adjusted RP-2014, which is believed to better reflect mortality improvements and is to be used in calculating defined benefit pension obligations. In
addition, during fiscal year 2015, the assumed discount rate used to measure the pension obligation increased from 4.0% to 4.1% as a result of changes in
market interest rates. The Company used adjusted RP-2014 to measure its pension obligation as of October 31, 2015 and combined with the increase in the
assumed discount rate and other demographic assumptions, its pension obligation decreased by approximately $0.9 million as of October 31, 2015 with a
corresponding decrease in other comprehensive income recognized net of tax. Further changes in any of these estimates could materially affect the amounts
recorded that are related to our defined benefit retirement plan.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

There have been no material changes in the disclosures discussed in the section entitled “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk” in Part
II, Item 7A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 31,2015 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”)
on January 11,2016.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures. As of January 31, 2016, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls
and procedures, as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) promulgated under the Exchange Act. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report.
There have been no significant changes in our internal controls over financial reporting during the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or,
to our knowledge, in other factors that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal controls over financial reporting.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls. Control systems, no matter how well conceived and operated, are designed to provide a reasonable, but not an
absolute, level of assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are
resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no
evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within our Company have been detected. Because
of'the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

We are from time to time involved in legal proceedings arising in the normal course of business. Other than proceedings incidental to our business, we are not
a party to, nor is any of our property the subject of, any material pending legal proceedings and no such proceedings are, to our knowledge, threatened
against us.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Risk factors and uncertainties associated with our business have not changed materially from those disclosed in Part I, ltem 1A of our Annual Report on Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended October 31,2015, as filed with the SEC on January 11,2016.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

During the first quarter of fiscal year 2016 we purchased shares of our common stock as follows:

Maximum
Total Number of Number (or
Shares Approximate
Purchased as Dollar Value) of
Average Part of Publicly Shares that May
Total Number Price Announced Yet Be Purchased
of Shares Paid per Plans or Under the Plans
Period Purchased(1) Share Programs or Programs(2)
November 1,2015 through November 30,2015 - - - -
December 1, 2015 through December 31,2015 12,433  § 15.29 - -
January 1,2016 through January 31,2016 - - - -
Total 12,433 - -

(1) We presently have no publicly announced repurchase program in place. Shares were acquired from our employees in accordance with our stock-based
compensation plan as a result of share withholdings to pay income tax related to the vesting and distribution of a restricted stock award.

(2) No publicly announced repurchase program in place.
Item 3.  Defaults Upon Senior Securities
None.

Item 4.  Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information

None.
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Exhibit
Number

Exhibits

Exhibit

3.1

32

33

34

35

3.6

3.7

4.1

42

43
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4.5

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Limoneira Company, dated July 5, 1990 (Incorporated by reference to exhibit 3.1 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form 10, and amendments thereto, declared effective April 13,2010 (File No. 000-53885))

Certificate of Merger of Limoneira Company and The Samuel Edwards Associates into Limoneira Company, dated October 31,
1990 (Incorporated by reference to exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 10, and amendments thereto, declared
effective April 13,2010 (File No. 000-53885))

Certificate of Merger of McKevett Corporation into Limoneira Company dated December 31, 1994 (Incorporated by reference to exhibit
3.3 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 10, and amendments thereto, declared effective April 13, 2010 (File No. 000-
53885))

Agreement of Merger Between Ronald Michaelis Ranches, Inc. and Limoneira Company, dated June 24, 1997 (Incorporated by reference
to exhibit 3.6 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 10, and amendments thereto, declared effective April 13, 2010 (File No.
000-53885))

Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of Limoneira Company, dated April 22, 2003 (Incorporated by reference to
exhibit 3.7 to the Company’s Registration Statement of Form 10, and amendments thereto, declared effective April 13,2010 (File No. 000-
53885))

Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of Limoneira Company, dated March 24, 2010 (Incorporated by reference to
exhibit 3.9 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 10, and amendments thereto, declared effective April 13, 2010 (File No.
000-53885))

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Limoneira Company (Incorporated by reference to exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form
10-K, filed January 14,2013 (File No. 001-34755))

Amendment to Amended and Restated Bylaws of Limoneira Company (Incorporated by reference to exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed September 25,2013 (File No. 001-34755))

Amendment to Amended and Restated Bylaws of Limoneira Company (Incorporated by reference to exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed December 18,2014 (File No. 001-34755))

Specimen Certificate representing shares of Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share (Incorporated by reference to exhibit 4.1 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form 10, and amendments thereto, declared effective April 13,2010 (File No. 000-53885))

Rights Agreement dated December 20, 2006 between Limoneira Company and The Bank of New York, as Rights Agent (Incorporated by
reference to exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 10, and amendments thereto, declared effective April 13,2010
(File No. 000-53885))

Certificate of Designation, Preferences and Rights of $8.75 Voting Preferred Stock, $100.00 Par Value, Series B of Limoneira Company,
dated May 21, 1997 (Incorporated by reference to exhibit 3.4 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 10, and amendments
thereto, declare effective April 13,2010 (File No. 000-53885))

Amended Certificate of Designation, Preferences and Rights of $8.75 Voting Preferred Stock, $100.00 Par Value, Series B of Limoneira
Company, dated May 21, 1997 (Incorporated by reference to exhibit 3.4 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 10, and
amendments thereto, declare effective April 13,2010 (File No. 000-53885))

Certificate of Designation, Preferences and Rights of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock, $.01 Par Value, of Limoneira Company,

dated November 21, 2006 (Incorporated by reference to exhibit 3.8 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 10, and
amendments thereto, declared effective April 13,2010 (File No. 000-53885))
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Exhibit

Number Exhibit

4.6 Certificate of Designation, Preferences and Rights of 4% Voting Preferred Stock, $100.00 Par Value, Series B-2 of Limoneira Company,
dated March20, 2014 (Incorporated by reference to exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 24, 2014
(File No. 001-34755))

10.1%* Master Loan and Security Agreement, dated December 1,2015, between Limoneira Company and Wells Fargo Equipment Finance, Inc.

10.2* Loan Schedule to Master Loan and Security Agreement, dated January 20, 2016, between Limoneira Company and Wells Fargo
Equipment Finance, Inc.

10.3 Promissory Note and Loan Agreement, dated February 11,2016, between Limoneira Company and Farm Credit West, FLCA (Incorporated
by reference to exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 18,2016 (File No. 001-34755))

10.4 Interim Funding Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2015, between Limoneira Company and Wells Fargo Equipment Finance, Inc.
(Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 22, 2015 (File No. 001-
34755))

10.5 First Amended and Restated limited Liability Company Agreement of Limoneira Lewis Community Builders, LLC, dated November 10,
2015, by and among Limoneira EA1 Land LLC and Lewis Santa Paula Member, LLC (Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 16,2015 (File No. 001-34755))

10.6 Lease Agreement, dated November 10, 2015, by and among Limoneira Company and Limoneira Lewis Community Builders, LLC
(Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 16, 2015 (File No. 001-
34755))

10.7 Retained Property Development Agreement, dated November 10, 2015, by and among Limoneira Company and Limoneira Lewis
Community Builders,, LLC (Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.3 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November
16,2015 (File No. 001-34755))

10.8*~ Form of Award Agreement under the Limoneira Company 2010 Amended and Restated Omnibus Incentive Plan

31.1% Certificate of the Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a)

31.2% Certificate of the Principal Financial and Accounting Officer Pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a)

32.1%f Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act 0£2002

32.2%f Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act 0£2002

101.INS* XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

*  Filed herewith
+  In accordance with Item 601(b)(32)(ii) of Regulation S-K and SEC Release Nos. 33-8238 and 34-47986, Final Rule: Management's Reports on

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and Certification of Disclosure in Exchange Act Periodic Reports, the certifications furnished in
Exhibit 32.1 and 32.2 hereto are deemed to accompany this Form 10-Q and will not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the
Exchange Act. Such certifications will not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange
Act, except to the extent that the registrant specifically incorporates it by reference.

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

LIMONEIRA COMPANY

March 10,2016 By: /s/ HAROLD S. EDWARDS
Harold S. Edwards
Director, President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

March 10,2016 By: /s/JOSEPHD.RUMLEY
Joseph D. Rumley
Chief Financial Officer,
Treasurer and Corporate Secretary
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Master Loan and Security Agreement

Wells Fargo Equigment Finanoe, Inc, | 727 Marquette Avenue, Siite 7o0 | MAC Nogot-o70 | Minneapolis, MN 55402

¥

Master Loan and Security Agreament Number 474639 dated as of December 1, 2015

Name and Address of Borrwer!
Limoneira Company

1141 Cummings Road
Santa Paula, CA 93060

Master Loan and Securlty Agrecment Provisions

1. INTRODUCTION. Inconsideration of the mutual covenants sat farth herein, Borrower and Lender herely enter inko this Master
Lian and Securty Agreement and agree to the terms and conditlons set forth herein, Each Lean Schedule that |5 executed by Borrowes
and Lender from fime bo Bme pursimnt b this Mastes Loan and Sesurity Agreement shall be deemed to be & separate loan rransaction
incerparating all of the terms and conditians of this Master Loar and Secerity Agreamant. References in this Mastar Loan and Security
Agregrrent to "Agreement”, “hereunder” end “herein” shall mean a Lean Schedule which incorporates this Master Loan ard Security
Agreemant. References in this Master Loan and Security Agreement to “Loan™ shall rmean the loan transaction ovidenced by & Lean
Schedule,

2. LOAN SCHEDULES. Borrower shall evidance its agresment to enter Into a loan transaction Incorparating the terms hereof by
executing and delhvering to Lender & Loan Schedule, Borrower's execution of & Loan Schadule shall abligate Barrawer to make all of the
payments set forth in the Loan Schedube. The Losn Schedule shall sk farth the armaunt of the Loan, the teem of the Loan, the number of
peyments ba be made and the amount and dates vpan which such payments are due {each a "Fayment Date”). Lender shail have no
abligation to enter inte ar accept any Loan Schedule and no Loan Schadule shall be bnding wupan Lerder untl aocepted oy Lender, which
acceptance shall be evidanced only by the execution of such Loan Schedule by Lender. The Borravwer's obligation ko repay the principal
amaunt of each Loan together with interest and all sther amaunts peyable by Barrower as set forth in the spolicable Loan Schedule is
ahsolute, uncanditional and irevccabie, and all such amounts shad be paid by Borrower in accordance with the terms thereof withaut
ary abaternent, reduction, seteff ar gefense of any kind,

3. SECURITY IMTEREST. Ta secure the payment and perfarmanca of each and every debt, llabdty and obfigation of every Lype and
description which Borrowsr may now or 2t any tme hereaftar awe to Lender (whether such debt, lisbility ar ebligation now exists or is
hereafter crasted, acquired or Incurred, arses out of & leese, installment sale contract or loan, swap, derivative, forelgn exchange,
hedge or other simiiar agresment, whether or not It ts currently contemplated by the Borrewar and Lender, whether ar nat any
docurments evidencing it refer to this Master Loan and Secutity Agreement, and whether it ls or may be direct or Indirect, dwee or to
berame due, absolute or cantingent, primary of secondary, Hquidated or waliquidated, joint, several or joint and several, ard all costs
and expenses Incurred by Lender 1o obtain, prescrs, perfact and enferca the security interest aranted hereln and ta maintain, preserve
and coliect the property subject to the security inberest; all such debts, Ilabilities and obligations being herein collectively referred to 85
the "Obigations”), Barrawer hereby grants to Lander a first-priority security interest In oll of the property described in each Loan
Schedule, together with all substitutions, replacements, pans, accessories, supplies, improvements, additions and accessions now or
heresfter sffived therets or used in connection therewith, and ol proceeds and products thereof (referred ta collectively Bs the
“Collaternl® and individually &s an "Tterm®), and all baoks and recards of Barrower pertaining to the Collateral,

4. BORROWER COVENANTS; REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRAMTIES. (4} Affirmatve Covenants, Berrower shall: (1) have, at
the time Barmower acquires fghta in the Collatarad, absalute title to each Iem of Collateral free and dear of all security Interasts, liens
and encumbrances sxcept the security Interest of Lender and will defend the Collateral against all claims or demands of all periens other
than Lender: (I} use the Collataral primarily for business purposes s oppased to persanal, family or househald purposes; (i) pay all
shipping and delivery charges and cther expenses Incurred in connection with the Collateral and pany all lawful claims, whether for labor,
materials, supplies, renk, assessments, taxes or services, which might or could I unpaid become a lien on the Collateral; (iv) comply
with all laws and regulations and rules, all manufacturer’s Instructions and warmanty requirements, and the conditisns and requirements
of all poficias of insurance refating ko the Collateral and its use, and use reasanahle care Lo prevent any partion of the Collateral from
being damaged ar degresiating at an excessiva rate (normal wear and tear excepted); (v) mark ard entify te Coflateral with a8
|nformation and in such mannar as Lender may request From tme to tima and replace promptly any such markings or identification
which are removed, defaced or destraved; (vi} 2t any and all times dusing business howrs, grant Lender free secess bo enter upon the
premises wherein the Collateral shall be lacated or wsed and permit Lender to audit and irspect the Collataral; (vil} pay when dug or
raimbures Lender on demand For all costs of collection of any of the Obfgations and all other out-of-pocket expenses (induding in each
case all reasonable attorreys’ fees) Incurmed by Lencer in conrection with the creation, perfection, satisfaction, protection, liguidatian,
defense or enforcement of Lender's secirity interest in the Collateral or the creation, continuance, protectian, defense or enfarcamant of
this Agrecment ar ary or 2l of the Obligations, incuding expenses Incurred in amy litigation or banknaptoy or Insolvency praceedings;
[wiil) maintain 8 system of accounts estabSished and administared In accordance with generally accepted accounting principies and
practices conststently applied; {ix) within forty-flve (45) days anter the end of each fiscal quarter other than the final fiscal guarbér af
each flseal year, deliver to Lender 8 balance sheet and statement of Income a4 at the end of such quarter, sach setting farth In
comparathe form the corresponding Ngures for the comaarabie periad In the preceding fiscal year and, within ane hundred and
twenty (130) days after the end of each fiscel year, deliver to Lender & balgnce shaet as at the end af such year and statements af

THIS AGREEMENT INCLUDES THE TERMS ON THE ATTACHED PAGE(S).

Lider: Wells Farge Equipg@nt Financeyfnc.  Barrower Limoneirs Company
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Incorme and cazh Aows For such year, with accompanying pakes to financial smtements, each setting forth in comparative farm the
corresponding figures for the praceding year, In each case prepared in accordance with generally soceated accounting principles and
practices consistently applied and certified by Borrawer's chief financial officer as falrty presenting the financial pasition and resuits of
operatians of Borrower, and, In the case of year-end financlal statements, certified by an independent socaunting firm acoeptable to
Lender; (] with reasonable prempiness, Borrower shall furnish Lender with Swch ether information, financial or othensise, relating to
Borrower or the Collateral & Lander shall reasonatzly request; and (xi} indemnify Lender agairst all losses, claims, demands, lishilities
and expenses of every kind (including, without limitation, attorneys” fees) arising out af, related to, or caused by, an Ttem or [ters of
Collateral.

(b} Megative Covenants. Borrower shall net (7) voluntarily or imvoluntarly create, mcur, assurme or suffer to exist any mortgage, en,
sacurity imterest, pledge ar other encumbrance or attachment of any kind whatsoever upon, affecting or with respect to the Collsteral ar
the Agreement or any of Barrower's interest under the Agreement: (i) permit te name of any person, association or corparation other
than Barrawer or Lender o be placed on the Collateral as a deslgration that might be interpreted a2 a claim of ownership o security
interesty (i) part with pessassion ar contral of or suffer or allow to pess out of its possession or control any Theam or change the location
of the Collateral or amy part thereof from the address shown an the Loan Schedule; (iv) ASSIGN OR IN ANY WAY DISPOSE OF ALL OR
ANY PART QF ITS RIGHTS OR OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE AGREEMENT OR ENTER INTO ANY LEASE O SALE OF ALL OR ANY PART CF
THE COLLATERAL (and any attempt by Borrower to assign shall ba null and vald); (v) change its name or address fram that set forth
ahove unbess it shall have ghven Lender no less than thirty {30) days’ peior written notice thereaf; (vi} allow ane or more: Blocked
Persens to have, in the aggregake, 504 or more of the awnership interests in or contral of Barrower. “Blocked Person” means any
parson or entity that 18 naw or at any time (4] on & list of Specially Designated Matonals Issued by the Office of Farelgn Assets Contral
(“OFACT) of the United States Deparbment of the Treasury or any sectoral sanctiords identification list, or (B) whose property of inferests
In property are biocked by OFAC or whe 15 subject to sanctions impaosed by [aw, including any executive order of any branch or
departrnent of the United States govarnment or {C) otherwise designated by the United States or any regulater having jurlsdiction ar
regulatary oversight over Lender, to be & persan with whism Lender |s not permitted to adend credit to or with regand to wham, 2
barraveer relationship may reswt in penalties against Lender or mitations on @ lender’s ability to enforoe a transaction.

() Representations and Warranties, Borrower represents and warrants to Lender, that effective on the date an which Borrower
executes this Masker Loan and Security Agreement and each Lean Schedule; (i) IF Borrower |8 & parinership, corporation, limited
llability compary or other legal entity, the sxecution and delivery of this Master Loan and Securlty Agreement, each Loan Schedule
and the perfarmance of Borrower's obligations hereunder and thereundar have been duly authorized by all necessary action on the
part af tha Bormawer and are not In conbravention of, and will nat result in a breach of, any of the tarms of Borrawer's charter, by-
|laws, articles of incorporation o other organic decuments ar any loan agreements ar indentures of Bormower, or eny other conkract,
qreement or instrument to which Barrower is & party or by which It i bound; (i) the person signing the Master Loan and Security
Agreement and each Losn Schedule on behall af Borrower i= duly authosized; (W) Borrower's exact legal namae as it appears on its
charter or other arganic documents, Including as to punctuation and capitalization, and its principal place of business or chied
executive affice 15 a5 set farth In the heading of this Master Loan and Seourity Agreemant; {Iv) Borrower |s duly organized, validly
cxisting and in good standing under the laws of tha state of its Incorporation or formation and is duly qualified and autharized to
transact business in, and Is in gead standing under the laws of, each other state in which the Collatersl s or will be lecated; (V)
there has been no change In the name of the Borrewer, o the nama under which Barrewer conducts business within the one year
preceding the date hereof except as previously reported n writing to Lender; (w1} Borrowes has nok mowed its principal place af
business or chief executive affica, or has not changed the jurisdiction of its organization within the one year precading the date
hereal except @z previously reported In writing to Lender; [vii} this Master Loan and Security Agreement and each Losn Schedule
constitute = legal, valid and binding obiigation of Borrower, enforceable against Borrower In acoordance with (ks terms; (viil} all
information provided by Borrower to Lender in connection with & Loan 15 true and correct; (ix) the Collateral will ke used primarily for
business purposes as opposed to persanal, femily or househald purposes; and {x) there are no suts pending or threatened against
Barrawer ar any guasantor of the Bosrower's obiigations (each, a "Guarantar”) which, if decided adversely, might materisily
adversely affect Borrower's ar such Guarantor's financial condition, the value, utiity or remaining useful life of the Collateral, the
rights intended to be afforded to Lender hereunder or under amy guarantze or the ability of Borrower or 2ny Guerantor to perform lts
obligations undar the Master Loan and Security Agresment or eny docurment delivered i connection with a Loan

(d) Fingncial Covenants, Borrower shall, unbess Lender otherwlse consents in writing, meintain Borrgwer's financial condition as
follows using generally accephed nx ing principles sstently epplied and used consistently with prior practices (except to the
extent modifed by the definitions herein):

() Dbt Service Coverage Ratio: On an annual basis, based on Barrower's financial statements for each fiscal year ending
October 31, srd beginning with the year ended Octaber 31, 2015, Boarrower shall maintain & Debt Sérvice Coverage Ratio (DSCR) of
nok less than 1.25 to 1,0 computed as follows:

(A} DSCR= (EBITOA minus dividends) divided by {Interest experse plus current portion of long term debt), where
ESITDA ks defined as follows:

(B) EBITDA = Met income, less any extraordinary and non-operating cash fows (including gains and kosses from
the sale of assets) plus prowisian for income taxes, plus interest expense, plus depreclation and amortization and other non-cash
charges, induding stock compensation expenge and asset impalkrmants and write-affs,

5. ASSIGNMENT, Lander may sall or assign, or grank & security interest In, ItS INGEFEST (N ONE OF Mone Agresments, of in this Master
Loan and Security Agreement, or any Loan, and assign Its security Interest i 21 or any part of the Collstersl, in whole orin pert,
withaut notice to or the consant of Borrower, Borrower agrees not o assert against any assignes of Lender any clalm or defansa
Borrower may have against Lender,

6, COLLATERAL PERSONALTY. Tho Cofateral shall rermain personal property regardiess of its attachment to reaity, and Borrower
agraes to take such action at its expense a3 may be necessary to prevent any thind party from acquiring eny inkerest in the Collateral as
& pasult of its attachment to realty. If reguested by Lender with respect to any lkem, Borrower will oblin and defiver b Lender wabers
of imterest or liens In recardable form, satsfectary to Lender, fram all persans dalming any Interest n the real property on which such
Teem s instabed or loceted.

7. USE AND MATNTENANCE. Borrower will use the Collateral with due care and for the purpess for which & Is intended. Borrower
will maintain the Collateral In good repair, condition and working order and will furnish 2l parts and Services reguired therefor, all &t its
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expense, ardinary wear and tear excepbed, Beergwer shall, at its expense, make all modifications and imgravernents to the Collateral
required by law, and shall net make cther mocifications or irmprovements to the Collateral without the prior written consent of Lender.
Al parts, modifications and improvements to the Collzteral shall, when instalied or made, immadiately becarme part of the Colateral for
all purposes and subject to Lender's security Interest under the Agreement. Tha Caliateral shall not be used gutside of the United States
withouk Lender's prior weitten consent,

B. LOSS OR DAMAGE. Borrawer shall bear all risk of darmage, loss, theft, destruction, condemnation er selzure with respect ba
the Crdlateral, and no damage, |oss, theft, destruction of, cordemnation of salzure with respect b the Collateral or any part theseof
shall affect any obigaticn of Bacrewar under the Agreement, which shall continue in full force and effect. Borrower shall advise
Lender in writing within ten {10) deys of the eccurrence of any damage, less, theft, destruction or governmental commandeering of
any Item {an "Event of Loss”) and of the circumstances end extent of such Event of Loss. Borrower shall, at Lender's aption, sither
(2} replace such Item with collateral acceptable to Lender within 30 days after the Event of Loss and such replecement collateml
shall automatically beceme Collataral subject to Lender's security interest under the Agreement or (o) pay down the Obligations by
an smount representing the unaaid portion of the Obligations funded in reliance of the affected ftems as ressonably determined by
Lender. Any insurance or eapdermnation proceeds recenved shall be pald to Lender and credited to Borrower's abligation under this
paragraph, Whenever the Collateral is dameged and such damage can be repaired, Borrower shall, at its expense, promptly eifect
such repairs a5 Lender shall deem necessary for compliance with paragraph 7, above, Proceeds of insurance shall be paid te Lender
with respect to such reparable demage ta the Collateral and shall, at the sleclion af Lender, be applied either to the repair of the
Collateral by payment by Lendar directiy to the party completing the repalrs, or ta the reimburserrent of Borrower for the cast of
auch repairs; provided, however, that Lender shall nave no obligation t meke such payment or any part thereof unlil receipt of such
evidence as Lender shall deem satisfactory that such repairs have been complesed and further provided that Lender may apply such
protesds to the payrment of any installment or ether sum due or to become due under the Agreament if at the: Bme such proceeds
are recelved by Lender there shall have occurred and be continuing any Event of Default or any event which with lapse of time or
natice, or both, would become an Event of Default.

0. INSURAMCE. Barrawer shall obtain and maintain on or with respect to the Collateral at its own expense all-risk physical damage
insurance, insuring agamst kss or damage to the Collateral n an smount nat kss than the full replacement cast of the Collataral,
Borrower shall furnish Lender with a certificate of insurance evidencing the issuance of a policy to Barrower in 6t least the minimum
arraunt required herein naming Lender as (i) loss payee | the aggregate original cost of the Collateral |5 $1 million or less, or (i)
lender 153 payee far the praperty damage caverage if the aggregate original cost of the Collatoral exceeds S1 millian. Such policy
shall be m such farm @nd with such Insurers as may be setisfactary to Lender, and shall cantain & dause specifying that no acticn o
misrapresentation by Borrawer shall imalidate such policy and a cleuse neguiring the Insurer to give to Lender at least thirty (30) days
prioe written notice of (a) the cancallation or non-renewal of such policy or (b) any amendrmerit ta the terms af such policy iF such
amendment would cause tha pollcy no lsnger to confarm to the policy requirements stabed in this paragraph, and at least ten (10) deys
price written notice far non-peyment of gremium, and that the coverage of Lender shall not be terminated, reduced ar affected n amy
rmanner regardiass af any breach or violation by Barrower or any of its affiliates of any warranties, declarations or condltions of such
insurance policy ar palickes. Berrower shall deliver to Lender anrually and at any time that thers is a change in insurance carriar,
evidence satisfactary to Lerder of the required insurancs coverage. Borrower hereby assigns ka Lender the proceeds of all insurance and
directs any insurer to make payments directly to Lendar, Lander shafl be under no duty to ascertain the existence: of or to examine ary
such palicy or to adviss Borrower In the event any such policy shall not comply with the requisesments hereof.

10, ADDITIONAL ACTION; EXPENSES, Borrower will promptly execute and deliver to Lender such further documents,take such
further action, ard provide such infermation as Lender may request in order ta carry sut mare effectively the inent and purpose af the
Agreement, and/or comply with laws or reguletions applicable to Lender, Barrower, and/or the transaction evidanced by this Agréement,
inchuding Information identifying the owners of Barrawer and (ks efflistes and their respactive ownership interests, induding any action
deemed necessary Lo pratect fully Lendar’s Interest under Lhe Agreement in accordance with the Uniform Commercial Code or other
applicable law, Lender and any assignes of Lender is authorized to file one ar more Uniform Commercla] Cade financing statements
without the signature of Borrower or slgned by Lender or any assignee of Lender s sttomey-in-fact for Barrower, Bormower herely
granks te Lendes @ powar of attormey in Barrower's name, to apphy far a certificate of tithe for any Itemn that |s required to be titied undes
the laws of any jurlsdiction where the Collateral ls or may be used and/er to transfer title thereto upon the exescise by Lender of Its
ramedies upan &n Event of Default by Borrpwer under the Agreement. Borrower acknowledges that Lender may incur out-of-packet
costs and expenses kn connection with the Loans contemplated by this Master Lean and Security Agreement, and accardingly agrees to
pay (or reimburse Lender for) the reasonable costs and expenses related to (a) filing &ny financing, continuation or tarmination
staternerits, (b} any e and llen searches with respect to the Agreement and the Collateral, () documnentary stamp taes relating
thereto, and (d) precuring centified charber documents snd good stending certificates of Borrower and ary Guarantar. Barrwer will do
whatever may be necessany to have a stakemenk of the Interest of Lender end any assignes of Lender in the Collateral noted on any
cartificate of tithe relating to the Collatera! and will deliver said certificate to Lender, If Barrower falls to perform or comply with any of
its agreements, Lender may perfarm or comply with such agreements in it swn name of in Barrovwar's nama as attorney-in-fact and the
amaunt of any payments and expenses of Lender incurred in connection with such performance or complisnce, together with intarest
thereon ak the rate providged below, shall be desmed payable by Borrower upon demand.

11. LATE CHARGES. I the event any amount payable under the Agreement shall nok be paid within ten (10) days of when due,
Lender chall heve the right to assess and Besrower shall pay to Lender, 25 8 late charge, 5% of such overdue amount or the maximum
late charge allowad by kaw, whichaver is less. Payments thereafter recelved shall be applies first o delinguent instaliments and then to
current installrisnts,

12, DEFAULT. Ench of the fallowing events shall constitute an "Event of Default” under the Agreement: (a} Borrower shall fall to make
any required payment within ten (10) deys of when due under this Agreement; (b) any certificate, statement, representation, warmnty
ar financial or credit information heretofare or hercafter made ar furnished by or on behaf of Borrower or any Guarantor proves to have
boen false ar misteading In any material respect or omitted any material fact, contingent ar unliguidated fability or daim against
Borrower or any such Guaranter: (¢) Berrower shall fail to observe or perform any other agreement to be abserved or performed by
Borower under the Agreement and the cantinuance thereaf for ten (10] days fallowing written notios thereaf by Lender to Barrawer;

(d] Borrawer or any Guarankor or eny partner of Borrower If Borrawer Is a partnarship shall cesse doing DUSIness 45 3 going cancerm or
make an assignment fac the benefit of creditors; (&) Barrawer or amy Guarantor ar any partner of Borrower if Barmower & a partrershig
or the holder(2) of the majerity cwrership Interasts of Borrower shall valuntarily file, or have filed sgainst It imoluntarily, a petitian far
liguidation, reorgantzation, adjustrrent of gebt, or similar relief under the federa! Bankruptey Cade ar any other present or future federal
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ar state bankruptoy of Insolvency law, or a trustes, receiver, or llguidatsr shall be ppeinted of It or of all or a substantal part of Its
assets; () Barrower or ary Guarantar shall be in breach of or in default in the payment cr performance of any materal obligation under
any credit agresment, conditional sales contract, lease, guaranty, ar other contract with Lender, an effiliate af Lender or any ather
persen or entity, howsoaver arising; (g) any Individual Barrawer, guerantor, of partner of Borrawer If Borrawer is a partnership shall
dig; (h) Borrvwer or Guarantor shall suffer a material adverse change In Its financial condition fram the dete herecf, and 24 a result
thereol Lender deems ftself or any of the Collateral to be insecure; of (i) any Guarantes fadis to pay or perfasrm any obligation owing to
Lender, or breaches or fails to cheerve or perform any term, condition, covenant, representation or wamranty contglned in any
agreement made by such Guarantor in favor of Lender and such failure or breach continues beyond the applicadle grace or cure pariod
et forth In such agreement, if any.

13. REMEDIES. At any time after the occurrence of an Event of Defeult, Lender shall have the remedies of a sacured party under the
Unifarm Commercial Code and other applicabla laws and may also exercise ane or mare af the follewing remedies:

() Londer may dectare all unmatuned obligetions, Encluding but not Emited to, all unpald amounts due and to becorme due under this
Agreement and under each and every other Loan Schedule to this Master Loan and Security Agreement to be Immediately dwe and
payable and thereupon all such emaunts Inchsding, without [iméation, the full principal batance of eadh Lobn end any additicnal ameunt
due upan the prepeyment of any Lean pricr ta its scheduled maturity date, whether denaminated as a prepayment premium or
otherwise, together with accrued buk unpaid interest trowgh and including the date of payment o full, shall be and become
Immediately due and payable (callectively, the "Aocelerated Batanos™). Interest on the Accelerated Balance shadl be caloulated from the
date of such Event of Defaull, both before and afuer judament, 2t a rate equal to the lesser of 12% per annum or the highest rate
parmitted by law (the *Dafault Rate™).

(b) Lender may require Barrower, 8t Lender's request and at Beorower's own gost, to promptly defiver passession of the Caollateral to
Lender In such manmer and to such place as Lender shall direct, or Lender may 8t ary hour, without notice te Borrower and without
liahiliby except for ralicious acks by 1S agents, enter upon Barmower's premises or any other premises and teke possession of or render
unusatle any Item and attachments therean, whether or not part of the Callateral, and hold, lease or sell at public or private sale any
such Them and attachments, which sale may, 8t Lender's aptien, be held on Borrower's premisas, IF Lender beases or sells the Colfateral,
Lender shall have the right to recover from Borrower any deficlency remaining after the application af the proceeds to the Accelerabed
Batance and all ather smounts due under the Agreement. At any such sale, Lender may disclalm any warrenties of tile ar the ke, IF
Lender sells any of the Collateral upon credit, Barrower will be credited only with the payrnents actually made by the purchaser. Any
ratice of sale, disposition or ather action by Lender renuired by law and sent bo Borrower at Borrower's address shown abave, or at such
cither address Bs Barrower may fram Hme to time be shown on the records of Lender, at least five (5} deys prior bo Such action, shall
constitute reasonable notice to Barmower.  Lender shall be entitled o apply the proceeds of any sale or other disposition af the Collateral
to the Okligations in such arder and manner &s Lender may determine. Borrower waives eny and ali rights ta natice or hearing prior ta
Lender taking immediate possession of the Collateral or any portion thereof, and Borrower waives By and all ights to a bond or
security which may be required by applicable [aw price to the exercice of any of Lender's remedies against the Collaterad or any partion
therasd. Borrower waives any and all roguirements that the Lender sell ar dispose of el ar say part of the Collateral at any partioalar
Hma, regardiess of whether Barrawer has requested such 2ale or disposition.

(=) In addition to any amaunts recoverable under this paragraph 13, Lender shall b entitled to recaver all expenses and colleddon
o which Lender shall have incurred by reason of Bay Event of Default, including but not bmited to expensas of repessession, repalr,
stecBge, transpartation, and dispesition of the Collateral and including cxpenses incurred by employess snd reasonable attameys’ fees,
Inclisding attorneys' fees on eppeal.

{d) Lender's remedies shall be cumulative and may be exercised singularly or concurrently ab Lender's aption, and shall be in
addition to all ather remedics at law ar in equity of by agreament, but enly to the extent nacassary e permit Lender ta recavar
amaunts for which Barrower Is llable under the Agreement, Borrower waives &y requirements of law that might limit avy of the
ramedies harein to the extont permitted by lew. Mo express or implied waiver by Lender of any breach of Barrower's abligations
under the Agresment shall canstitute a walver of any other breach of Borrower's obligations under the Agreement. Lender's failure
ar delay In exercising any rights shall not be 2 watver of any such right upon the continuation or recurrence of any Event of Default.
Any single or partial exercise of any Fight by Lender shall not exhaust the same or be @ wakver of any other right. To the extent
permitted by applicable law, Borrower hareby waives the benefit and advantage of, and covenants not Lo assert againat Lender, any
watuation, inquisttion, stay, appraisement, extension or redemption laws now existing or which may hareaftar exist which, but for this
pravision, might ke applicable to any sale or leese made under the judgment, order or decrée of By court of under the powers of
zale and feasing confarred by the Agresrment or otherwise, To the extent permitted by applicable law, Borrower hereby waives amy
rights naw or hereafter conferred by statute or otharwise which may require Lender to sell, lease or otherwise use any Collateral in
mitigation of Lender’s damages.,

14, NOTICES, Amy written notice under the Agreement to Borrawer or Lender shall be desmed to have been given when delivered
personally or depasited with a nationally recogrized svernight caurier serviea of In the Unitad States malls, postage prepald,
pcldressed (o recipient at ils address set forth abave or at such ather address a5 may be last known Lo the sender. In the event
Borrower changes Its address at any bBme prior to the date the Obligations are paid In full, Borrowar agroes (o prompay dive written
rotlon of sald change of addrass in the manner set ferth herain,

15, NON-WATVER. No course of dealing batween Lander and Barrower or any delay or omission on the part of Lender In exercising
any rights under the Agreerment shall operake as & waiver of any rights of Lander. A walver on any are pecasion shell nat be
construed a8 a bar to of walver of any right ar remedy on any future accasion. No waiver or consent shall be binding upon Lerdar
unless It is n writing and signed by Lender,

16. MISCELLANEOUS. This Master Loan and Secusity Agreement and the Loan Schedules reprasent the entire agreement betwean
the parties with respect to the transactions contemplated herety, This Agreament can be micdified, amended, termingted or discherged,
ane the Security Trberest can be released, onty explictly in a writing signed by Lender. Lender's duty of care with respect to Collateral
in its possession (a5 kmposed by law) shall be deermed fulfilled If Lender exercises reasonable care in physically safekeeping such
Collsteral ar, In the case of Collateral in the custody or possession of a bailes ar ather thind person, exercises reasonable care in the
selection of the balee or ather third persan, and Lender need nob othersise preserve, protect, Insure or care for any Collateral. Leader
shall not be obligated te exercise or reserve any rights Borrower may have agalnst prior parties, to resfize on the Collateral at all or in
ary particular manner or order, of to apply any cash proceeds of Collateral in ary particular seder of agplication.  This Agreement shall
ibe binding upon and Inure to the benefit of Bormower and Lender and their respective heirs, representetives and assigns and shail take
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effect when signed by Borrower and delivered Lo Lender, and Borrower walves notice of Lender's acceptance hereof.  Lender may
execube this Agreement If appropriate for the purpose of fling, but the failure of Lender to execute this Agreament shall not affect or
impair the validity or effectiveness of this Agreement. Except to the extent atherwise required by law, this Agresment shall be governed
by the internal laws of the Stabe of Minnesota. If any pravision or application af this Agreement is held unlawful or unenfarceabia in any
respect, such (llegality ar unenfarceability shall not affect other pravisions or applications which can be given effect, and this Agreerment
ahall be conatrued as if te unlawiul or unenforcosble provesion or application hed rever been contaéned hereln or prescribed hereby. Al
representations and warrenties contained in this Agreement shall survive the execution, delivery and performanas of this Agreerment
and the creation and payment of the Obligations, [f this Agreemant is signed by moee than ene parson as Borrower, the tarm
“Barrovwar” shall refer to each of therm separately and to bokn or all of them jeinty; all such persons shall be bound both severaly and
jaintly with the gther{s); and the Doligations shall Include all debts, labiles and obligations owed to Lender by any Borrower solely or
by bath or several or all Borrowers jointly or jointly and severally, and 2l property descriped in paragraph 3 shall be included as part of
the Collateral, whether it = owned jointhy by both or all Borrowers or is owned in whele e in part by one (or more) of them, The
captions contalned herein or im any Loan Schedule sre inserted for convenience only and shall not affect the maaning or interpretation of
this Master Loan and Security Agreement or any Loan Schedule. Lender may In = sole discretion, accept & photocopy, electronically
transmitted facsimile or other reproduction of this Agresment andor & Loan Schedule (a "Caurterpart™) as the binding and effective
recard of this Agreement and/ar @ Loan Schedule whathar or not an ink signed copy hereaf or thereol Is 2o received by Lender from
Barrower, prowided, howewver, that if Lender sooepts & Counterpart a4 the binding and effective record of this Agrasment or a Loan
Schedule, the Counterpart acknowledged in writing by Lender shall constitute the record hereal or thereof. Sorrower represents to
Lender that the signature that eppears on the Counterpart that Is transmitted by Borrawer to Lender in any manner described sbove is
intended by Borrower to authanticate the Counterpart natwithstanding that sudh signature (3 electronic, facstmile or a reproduction and
Borrower further sgress that & Counterpast of this Agreement or a Loan Schedule recelved by Lender, shall, when acknowledged in
wrRting by Lender, constiute an anginal document for the purpases of establishing the provisions hereol ard thereof and shall be legally
admissile under the best evidence rude sad binding an end enforosable agalnst Borrower, If Lender accepts a Counterpart of 2 Loan
Schedule 2 the binding and effective record thereof enly such Countorpart acknowledged in writing by Lender shall be maried
*Orignal* and to the extent that & Loan Schedule constitutes chattel paper, perfection of a security Interest by possession may anly be
sccamglished by poesession of the Counberpart that bears Lender's ink signed ackrowledgement and is marked *Original.” TIME 15 OF
THE ESSENCE WITH RESFECT TO THE QBLIGATIONS OF BORROWER UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, BORROWER AGREES THAT IN MO
EWVENT SHALL IT HAVE A REMEDY OF, AND 1M MO EVENT SHALL LENDER BE LIABLE TO BORROWER FOR, INDIRECT, SPECIAL OR
CORNSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES OR PUNITIVE OR EXEMPLARY DAMAGES, AND BORROWER HERERY EXFRESSLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT DR
CLAIM TO PUNITIVE OF EXEMPLARY DAMAGES.

ARBITRATION:

(a} Atbitration. The parties hereto agree, upon demand by any party, whether made before the institution of a judidal praceeding
or not mare than &0 days after service of & complaint, thied party complaint, cress-claim, counterciaim o any answer thersta or any
amendment to any of te above, to submit te Binding arbitration all claims, disputes and cortroversies between or among them {and
thedr respective employees, officers, directors, atforneys, and ather egents), whether in tort, contract or otherwise arsing out of or
ralating to in any way {1} the loan and related loan and security documents which are the subject of this Agreement and its
negatiation, execution, coflamaralization, administration, repayment, medification, extension, substibution, formation, inducement,
enforcement, default or termination; or (ii) requests far sdditional credit, In the event of a court ordered arbitration, the party
reguesting arbitration shall be respansible for timely filing the demand for arbitration and paying the appropriste filing fee within the
30 days af the abaternent order or the time specified by the cawrt. Failure o dmely fle the demand for arbitration as ordered by the
eourt will result in that party's right to demand arbitration being automatically torminated.

{h) Governing Rules. Any arbitration proceeding will (i) proceed in a lacation selected by the American Arbltration Assaclatien
CAAA"Y; (i) be governed by the Federal Arbitration At (Title 9 of the United States Code}, notwithstanding any conflicting choloe of
law provision in any of the documents between the parties; and (i) be conducted by the A8/, or such other administrator as the
parties shall mutuslly agres upan, in socordance with the ARA'S cammercial dispute resolution procedures, unless the claim or
counterclaim is at least $1,000,000,00 excusive of calmed interest, arbitration fees and costs in which case the arbitration shall be
conducted in accordance with the AAA' optional procedures for large, complex eommersial disputes (the commercial dispute
resalution procedures or the optional procedures for large, complax commercial disputes referred to herein, as appliceble, a5 the
“Rules™, If thore i5 any incansistency bebaeen the terms hereof and the Rules, the tarms end procedures set forth herein shall
contral. &Any party who fails o refuses to submit ta arbitration following a demand by amy other party shall baar ad costs and
expenses incurred by such ather party In compelling arbitration of any dispute. Nothing cantained herein shell be deemed to be a
walver by amy party that is & bank of the protections affarded Lo it under 12 U.S.C. §91 or any similar applicable state law,

{c} Mo Waiver of Provisional Remedies, Self-Help and Fareclosure, The arbitration requirement does nat limit the right of avy party
ta (i) foreciose against resl or personal property cellateral; (i) exercise self-help remadles relating to collaterad or proceeds of
collateral such as setoff or repossession; or (1} obtaln provisional or ancillary remedies such as réplevin, Injunctive relief,
attachmant or the appointment of a recebvear, before during or after the pandancy of any arbitration proceeding. This excdusion does
fat constitute & waiver af the right or obligation of any party to submit any dispute to arbitration ar reference hereunder, induding
thase arlsing from the exercise of the actions detasad in sections (1), (i) and {ili} of this paragraph.

(d) Arbitrator Qualificetons ard Powers. Any arbitration proceeding In which the amount in controversy is §5,000,000.00 or lesxs
will be decided by a single arbitrator selected accarding to the Rules, and who shall not render an award of greatar than
£5,000,000.00. Ay dispute in which the amount in contreversy exceeds §5,000,000,00 shall be decided by majarity vote of & panel
of three arbitrators; provided however, that all three arbltratars must actively particigate in all hearings and defiberations. The
arbitrator wil be & neutral attomey licenged in, or & rneatral retired jedge of the state or federal judiclary of the state In which the
arbitration procesding takes place, In either case with a minimum of ten years” axperience in the substantive law applicable to the
subject mather of the dispute to be arbitrated. The arbitrator will determine whether or not an lssue is arbitratable and will give effedt
to the statutes of limitation in determining any claim, In any arbitration proceeding the arbitrator will decide (by documents only or
with & hearing at the arbstrator's discretion) any pre-hearing mations which are simlilar to mations to disméss for failure to state a
clalm ar mations for summary adjudication, The arbirator shall resohee 21l disputes In accordance with the substantive law of
Minnasota and may grant any remedy or relief that & court of such state could order or grant within the scope hereef and such
anclllary refiaf as is necessary to make offective any award. The arbitrator sha't also have the power to award résovery of all costs
and fees, to impose sanctions and to kake such ather actkon as the arbitrator deems necescary ba the same extent 3 judge could
pursuant to the Federal Rules of Civil Pracedure, the Minnesata Rules ¢f Civil Procedure or other applicable lsw. Judgment upan the
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award rencered by the arbitrator may be entered in any court having jurisdiction. The institution and malnkenance af an action for
jurdicial relief or pursuit of 8 provisianal ar anclllary remedy shall not canstitute a waiver of the right of any party, including the
plaintint, 1o submit the controversy or clalm ta arbitration If any other party contests guch action for judicial relief,

(e} Discovery. In any arbitretion proceading discovery will be permitted In acoardance with the Rules. All discovery shall be
expressly Imited to mattars directly relevant to the dispute being arbiwrated and must be complated no ater than 20 days before the
hearing date. iy requests for an extension of the discovery perlods, or any discovery disputes, wil be subject to final determination
by the arbltrator upon a showing that the reguest for discovery s essential for the party's presentation and that no alternative
means for ablaining mfarmation ks avaitable,

{F) Class Proceedings and Consolidations. Helther party shall be entitled to join or consolldate disputes by or against cthers In any
arbitraticn, or bo Incude in any arbitration any dispute a5 & representative or member of & dass or to st in any arbétration in the
interest of the general public or In a privete attornay general capacity.

(@) Payment of Arbitretion Costs and Fees. The arbitrator shell award all costs and expenses of the arbitration procesding.

{h} Miscellanesus. To the maximum extent practicable, the ARR, the arbitrators and the parties shall take all ackion required o
conclede any arbitration proceeding within 180 days of the filing of the dispute with the ARA, No arbitrator or other party Lo &n
arbitration procesding may disclose the existence, content or results thereof, except for discasures of information by a pa
required in the ordinary course of its business or by agplicable law or regulation. If maore than one agreemeant for arbitration by or
batwean the parties potentially applas to & dispube, the arbitration provision most directly related to the docurments between the
parties or tha subject matter of the dispute shall control. This arbitratien pravision shall sunvive termination, amendmeant o
expiration of anmy of the docurments or ary relationship bebween the parties,

{13 Small Claims Sults, Netwithstanding anything harein te the contrary, @ach party resains the rght to pursue In Small Claims
Court any dispute in which the remedy saught is entirely within that court's jurisdiction.
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Exhibit 10.2

® ¥
Loan Schedule

to Master Loan and Security Agreement
Wells Ferge Equipment Finanee, Inc. | 755 Marquetie Averis, Suite 700 | MAC Nogob-ure | Minnenapolis, MM 55402

Laan Schedule Number 474659-700 dated as of January 20, 2016 o
Master Loan and Security Agreement Mumber 474699 dabed as of December 1, 2015
Marne and Address of Borrower:
Limoneira Company
1141 Cummings Road
Santa Paula, CA 93060

Hotice: Lendar resarves the right to withdraw the terms of this Loan Schedule and issue 8 modified Loan Schadula
without notice to Borrower I Lender Is not in receipt of a fully executed eriginal or fa of this doec within
five (5) business days of the date of this Loan Schedule. However, in that event, no such madifications will be binding
on Borrower unless and until Borrower executes the modified document containing all such medifications. :

This Laan Sehedule to Master Lean and Security Agreement is entered Into pursuant to the Master Loan and Security Agreemeant
\dentified above bebween Wells Farga Eguipment Finance, Inc., as Lender, and the undersigned Borrower, whether one or mare,
{herein referred to separataly as the *Master Agreement” and tagether with each Lean Schedule thereunder as the "Agreement”) and
constoutes a separate loan (the "Loan™) thereunder, All berms and conditdons of the Master Agresment; are incarparated herein and
made  part hersof. Lender and Borrower hereby reaffirm on and as of the date heseof all Lerms, representations and warrantas
cantained in the Master Agrasment.

1. Promise to Pay: For value received, Borrower promises to pay to Lender ab sueh address & may be designated from time to
tima by Lender, the sum of $11,320,110.48 in instaliments scoording to the schadule set forth balow; provided, however, that
Borrawer and Lender may agree 1 any othar payment schaedule, in which case any variations shall be sak forth in the space provided
far Additional Provisions. The first payrnent perod shall begin on the 15th day of tha month in which Lender disburses the loan
procecds if dishursement is made on or before the 15th day of such month, and the first payment pariod shall begin on the last day of
sueh rmonth il dishursement is made during the balance of such month, The first installment shall be payabla on the first payment due
dabe set forth befaw (which may be the same as the date the first payment period beglng). Subsequent installments shall be payable
o the first day of each payment peried baginning after the first payment period. Borrower agrees that the date the first payment
period begins and the first payrment due date may be left blank when this Loan Schedule |5 executed and hereby suthorizes Lender ta
insert sueh dakes based upon the date the loan proceeds ane dishursed.

Paymaent Schadule:
Date ficst payment geriod beains: | A& ] /) L First paymentdue: S/ 209 /| s
Number of Instadments: 84 i f Ampunt of pach instaliment’ $134,763.22

Payment Perod: Mamthiy Annugl Interest rate used in computing
payment schedula: 3.58%

Principal amount of logn proceeds dishursed: $10,000,000.00

In addition to instaliment payments as set forth abave, Borrawer agrees to pay Lender interim Interest on the an proceeds disbursed
hareunder from the date of dishurssmenk bo the dake tha firsk payment period begins at the annual interest rate cet forth above wsad
in camputing the payment schedule, Interim interest shall be due and payable one menth afer the date the first payment pariod
Begins.

IF any instaliment & nok paid within ten (10) days of whaen due, then in addition ta any other remedy Lender may hawe hereunder,
Lendar may impase and, ¥ imposed, Borrower shall pay a late charge of 5% of the amount of the delinquent instaliment but n any
evant not mare than permated by applicable law. Payments thareafter received shall be applied first to delinquent installmants and
then to current instafllmants.

This Loan may be prepaid in whole at any time by paying te Landar the unpaid princlpal balance of this Loan, together with accrued
but engaid interest and lata charges, plus @ prepayment premium of 2% of the principal amount prepald IF prepald during maonths 1 -
18 and (% thereafier,

This Loan shall not be prepald In part except as & result of a permitted dispesition of an iwem of collateral which secures this Laan, The
amaount of such partial prepaymeant relative to an tem of collateral shall be equal o a principal amount, & reasenably determined in
Lender's sole discration, tegather with accrued but unnaid interast, plus a grepayment premium calculated In accardance with the
praceding paragraph with respect Lo e principal amaunt pregald, Nothing contained In this paragraph shafl be construed as an
authorization by Lendar to the undersigned to sell or othensise dispose of an item of colateral which secures this Loan, Such sale or

THIS AGREEMENT INCLUDES THE TERMS ON THE ATTACHED PAGE(S).

ALendir: Walls Farag’ Bquiginent Finance, Inc.  Barrewesstimoneira Company
/e/ CERISTINE M. CANNON f8/ JOSEFH D. RUMLEY

“By Ghmmusnn;n By Joseph D.“Rimley

Titia “ditle
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dispasition of an item of cellateral by the undersigned shall be made solely in accordance with the berms of the Loan or ather
agreement pursuant ke which the undersigned pledged such item af collzteral to Lender,

Borrowar may remlt to Lendar amaunts in eecass of an instaliment that is due hereunder and Lender shall appty Suth amaunts @ the
Xt maturing insteliment or Instafiments. Payment of amounts in eecess of the instaliment that i due or instaliments prior to the due
date thereal snall not be treated es @ pregayment or result n s change to cither the total nurter of instaliments or the total surn of
all installmants payable under this Laan,

2. Collateral Description:
See Schedule A attached hereto and made a part hereef.

together with &0 accessaries, attachments, parts, repairs, additions and replacemeants attached thersta, After Boerower slgns this
Laan Schegule, Borrower suthorizes Lender to insert any missing information or change ary inaccurate information (such &< the
medel year of the Collateral or s serial member or VIN) int this Collateral Description.

3. Collateral Location:
Ses Scheduls A attached hereto and made a part hereof.

4. Walver; LiabHity, Bormowar hereby walves presentment, notics of dishenar, and protest, The halder hereof may change the
terms of payment of the Loan by extension, renawal or otherwise, and release any security for, oF party to, tha Loan and such acticn
shall not release gy accommeadation maker, erdarses, or quarantor from liatillty on the Loan. [F this Loan Schadule s signad by more
than ane person as Barrswer, then the term *Borrower” shell refer to each of them separately and to all of them jontly, and eech
such persen shedl be liable herewnder individually in full and jointhy with the others.

5. Miscellaneous. Nobwithetanding anything to the contrary contained herein, if the rate of Interest, late payment fes, prepayment
pramium or any ckher charges or feas due hereunder are determined by a court of competent jurisdiction o be wsurlous, then said
interest rate, fees or charges shill be reduced ta the maximurn Bmaunt permessible under applicable [aw and any excess amounts
shall be appiled towards the reduction of the principal balance of the Loan. Lender may recalve credits, rebates, discounts or other
manetary Incentives (any, an “incentive®) from the seller and/'or manufacturer of the Collateral as an Inducamant ta erter inta tis
Agreamant, Bormwer ackrowledges that any such incentive shall be solely for the benefit of Lendar and that Borrower has no right or
interest in o o any incontive granted to Lender,
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] @
Schedule A

Wells Fargo Equipment Finance, Ine. | 733 Marquette Avemee, Suite oo | MAC Nagod-oro | Mirneapolis, MN 55402
Contract Mo. 474599700 dated as of Jaruary 20, 2016

Final

DebtorfBorrower: Limoneira Comgary

Equipment Description: Packing, Coaling B Staring Equipment, Caompac Lemon Grading &nd Packline with Jx6 Lane pregraders and
2x7 lane sizars more Fully deseribed on the Invalces lsted bekow along with il sccessories, attachments end optians.

Baghouse B Industrial Shoet Metal Services, Inc, Invé 6E751, Packine Technologies, Ine. Inu# 9520, 5595, 96591, 9823, 10111,
10114, 10115 Contract 13181LP, 13253LF, 13250LP, 132490P, Intelligrated Systems LLE Tnw# 127731, 126354, 125533, 125007,
1240344 mere ully described on Multiline Palletizing Praject Quote #-14-1337% Rev B, Equipment Systems Carporation Inwd
PRLGTL, PP1GF1-3, PP1G71-2, FP1974-1, PR1S74C00, PRL974-2, more fully deseribed on Froposzl Mi4-4848, Big Jue Handling
Systemns Inv# 274850, 376137, Compes Seeting Equipment Inv, 10568, 10787, 13457, 98, 14850 more fully described on Sales
Agresment 213378-B,

Equipment originally ocated at: 1141 Cummings Raad Santa Paula, CA BI0G0

Dated: Manuary 20, 2016

Debtor Bgrrower: Limaneira Cdﬁ{Nn'{f
/=/TOSERFH D. RUMLEY

"By JogEph D. Rumléy

Title
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Delivery and Acceptance Certificate

Wells Fargo Equipmant Finance, Inc, | 733 Morquette Avenu, Suite 700 | MAC Nogot-070 | Minreapolis, MN 55402

Contract Mumber 474699-700 dated as of January 20, 2016

Marme Bnd Adiress of Customer:
Limoneira Company

1141 Cummings Road

Sanka Paula, CA 93050

Equipment Description: Sea Schedule & attached hereto and made a part hereof.

Equipment Location: Sea Schedule A attached herets and mada a part hereof.

Delivery and Accaptanca Certification:

Customer, by its signature below, acknowledaes and confirms ta Wells Fargo Equipment Finence, Inc. that (1) Customer has reoelwed
and irrevocably accepted all of the personal property described above (the "Eguipment”) as af the Acceptance Data set forth belaw
and agrees that the Equipment is now subject to the agreement referred to above, (the "Contract”); [il} Customer shall baar all risk
of loss er damage to the Equipment and shell insure the Equipment in accordance with the terms of the Cantract; and (14)
Custamer's obligations under tha Cantract are absolute and uncanditional, Customer further scknowledges and agrees that Wels
Farge Equipment Finance, Inc, may advance funds on acesunt of the Equipment in reliance upan this certificate, and that Custormer s

Tully abligated under the Contract
Delivery and Acceptance Date: ! /é_
Custompens |imaneira Company.

/8 JUSEPH D. RUMLEY

"WM ey

Title
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Exhibit 10.8

LIMONEIRA COMPANY
2010 AMENDED AND RESTATED OMNIBUS INCENTIVE PLAN

Form of Award Agreement

THIS AWARD AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”), made effective as of (the “Effective Date”), between LIMONEIRA
COMPANY, a Delaware corporation (“Limoneira”), and XXXXXXX (the “Participant”).

RECITALS:

Limoneira desires to carry out the purposes of the Limoneira Company 2010 Amended and Restated Omnibus Incentive Plan, as it may be
amended and/or restated (the “Plan”), by affording the Participant the Award opportunities, as hereinafter provided.

In consideration of the foregoing, of the mutual promises set forth below and of other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency
of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound, agree as follows:

PART I- PERFORMANCE SHARE-BASED AWARD AND RESTRICTED SHARES

1 .Performance Period. The Performance Period is Limoneira’s fiscal year beginning on , and ending on

2.Target Performance Share-Based Award . Subject to the terms of this Agreement (including, without limitation, Section 4(b) relating to non-
Covered Employees) and the Plan, Limoneira hereby grants the Participant the opportunity to earn a percentage of the Participant’s annual base salary in
effect on payable in shares of Limoneira common stock, $0.01 par value per share (“Common Stock”) in accordance with the
terms of this Agreement with the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock determined on the Issue Date (as hereafter defined) (the “ Target Performance
Share-Based Award”).

3. Performance Goal. The Target Performance Share-Based Award shall be subject to Limoneira’s achievement of the following Performance Goal,
namely, an “Income Goal” pursuant to which the net income of Limoneira for the Performance Period is at least percent (%) of
Limoneira’s budgeted net income of dollars ($ ) for the Performance Period (“Budgeted Net Income”).

4. Determination of Actual Performance Share-Based Award . The actual Performance Share-Based Award, if any, earned by the Participant under
this Agreement, not in excess of the Target Performance Share-Based Award and based upon the attainment of the Performance Goals during the Performance
Period, is referred to herein as the “Performance Share-Based Award.” The Performance Share-Based Award will be determined as follows, as certified in
writing by the Compensation Committee (“Committee”):

(a) Determination by Committee. The Committee shall determine the Performance Share-Based Award during the ninety (90) days
immediately following the end of the Performance Period. Up to percent (%) of the Target Performance Share-Based Award may be
awarded if the Income Goal is achieved; and up to percent (%) of the Target Performance Share-Based Award may be awarded if the
Income Goal is exceeded such that the net income of Limoneira for the Performance Period is at least percent (%) but less than

percent (%) of Limoneira’s Budgeted Net Income for the Performance Period; and up to percent ( %)of the Target
Performance Share-Based Award may be awarded if the Income Goal is exceeded such that the net income of Limoneira for the Performance Period is at least

percent (%), but less than percent (%), of Limoneira’s Budgeted Net Income for the Performance Period; and up to

percent (%) of the Target Performance Share-Based Award may be awarded if the Income Goal is exceeded such that the net income of
Limoneira for the Performance Period is at least percent (%) of Limoneira’s Budgeted Net Income for the Performance Period. The
Committee may award less than the Target Performance Share-Based Award even if the Performance Goal is met.
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(b) Non-Covered Employees. Notwithstanding the Performance Goals, the Performance Share-Based Award to a non-Covered Employee
Participant will be determined at the sole discretion of the Committee and, accordingly, may be more or less than the Target Performance Share-Based Award.

(c) Award Date; Issue Date. The date upon which the Committee makes its determination of the Performance Share-Based Award is referred
to herein as the “Award Date.” Shares of Common Stock equal to the Performance Share-Based Award shall be issued on the “Issue Date” based upon the
Fair Market Value of the Common Stock on the Issue Date. The Award Date and Issue Date will occur on or after , and on or before

; provided that no Participant shall have the right to designate the calendar year in which the Committee makes its determination of the
Performance Share-Based Award or the Issue Date.

5.Stock Legends. The Performance Share-Based Award Shares shall be represented by Common Stock certificate(s) registered in the Participant’s
name, or by shares designated for the Participant in book-entry form on the records of Limoneira’s transfer agent, subject to the restrictions set forth in
Sections 7 and 8 of this Agreement. Any stock certificate, or direct registration system book-entry account, issued or established for the Performance Share-
Based Award Shares shall bear, in addition to applicable securities law legends, the following or similar service-based legend:

“The transferability of this certificate and the shares of Common Stock represented hereby are subject to the terms, conditions,
and restrictions (including forfeiture) contained in the Limoneira Company 2010 Amended and Restated Omnibus Incentive
Plan, as it may be amended and/or restated, and Sections 7 and 8 of the Award Agreement entered into between the registered
owner and Limoneira Company. A copy of such Plan and Agreement is on file in the offices of Limoneira Company, 1141
Cummings Road, Santa Paula, CA 93060, Attention: Compensation Committee.”

6. Custody of Shares. Any Common Stock certificates or book-entry shares evidencing such Performance Share-Based Award Shares shall be held in
custody by Limoneira or, if specified by the Committee, with a custodian or trustee, until the service-based restrictions thereon set forth in Sections 7 and 8 of

this Agreement shall have lapsed. The Participant agrees to deliver a stock power, duly endorsed in blank, relating to any such Performance Share-Based
Award Shares in certificate or book entry form.




7 .Service-Based Restrictions and Vesting. As of the Issue Date, the Performance Share-Based Award Shares shall be subject to service-based
restrictions, such that subject to the terms of the Plan and the Agreement, the Participant shall Vest in the Performance Share-Based Award Shares only so
long as the Participant remains continuously employed with Limoneira or an Affiliate through the dates listed below:

Thus, the Performance Share-Based Award Shares shall hereinafter be referred to as “Restricted Shares.” The Committee has sole authority to determine
whether and to what degree the Restricted Shares have Vested and to interpret the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the Plan, including whether to
issue shares Vested as of the Issue Date, free of the restrictions referred to in Sections 7 and 8 of this Agreement.

8. Termination of Employment; Forfeiture of Award.

(a) Except as may be otherwise provided in Section 8(b) of this Agreement, in the event that the employment of the Participant with
Limoneira or an Affiliate is terminated by Limoneira or an Affiliate on or after the Issue Date, other than for cause, any unvested Restricted Shares shall
become fully Vested only in the sole discretion of Limoneira. If a Participant’s employment is terminated by Limoneira or an Affiliate for cause or a
Participant at his sole discretion terminates his employment with Limoneira or an Affiliate, and the Restricted Shares have not Vested pursuant to Section 7
above, then the Restricted Shares, to the extent not Vested as of the Participant’s termination of employment date, shall be forfeited immediately upon such
termination, and the Participant shall have no further rights with respect to the Restricted Shares. The Committee (or its designee, to the extent permitted
under the Plan) shall have sole discretion to determine if a Participant’s rights have terminated pursuant to the Plan and this Agreement, including but not
limited to the authority to determine the basis for the Participant’s termination of employment. The Participant expressly acknowledges and agrees that.
except as otherwise provided herein, the termination of the Participant’s employment shall result in forfeiture of the Restricted Shares to the extent the
Restricted Shares have not Vested as of the Participant’s termination of employment date.

(b) Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 8(a) above, the following provisions shall apply if any of the following shall occur on or
after the Issue Date but prior to the full Vesting of the Restricted Shares:

(i) Death. In the event that the Participant remains in continuous employment with Limoneira or an Affiliate from
until the Participant’s death, the Restricted Shares shall not be forfeited and any unvested Restricted
Shares shall immediately become fully Vested as of the date of death.
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(ii) Disability. In the event that the Participant remains in the continuous employment with Limoneira or an Affiliate from

until the date of the Participant’s termination of employment due to Disability, the Restricted Shares shall

not be forfeited and any unvested Restricted Shares shall immediately become fully Vested on the date of the Participant’s

“termination of employment” on account of Disability. For this purpose, “Disability” shall mean the Participant is unable

to engage in his profession by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment that can be expected to

result in death or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months. The Committee shall

certify Disability, after consultation with a qualified medical examiner, and shall determine a Participant’s date of
termination after taking into account the Participant’s position and all applicable laws.

(iii) Change of Control. In the event that the Participant incurs a termination of employment, other than for cause or at his own
discretion, within one (1) year following a Change of Control, the Restricted Shares shall not be forfeited and any unvested
Restricted Shares shall immediately become fully Vested as of the date of termination of employment.

(iv) Retirement. In the event that the Participant has been in the continuous employment of Limoneira or an Affiliate for a
period of at least the five (5) years immediately preceding the Issue Date, and the Participant’s employment is terminated
due to retirement, the Restricted Shares shall not be forfeited and any unvested Restricted Shares shall immediately
become fully Vested on the date of the Participant’s termination of employment due to retirement.

(v) Specified Employees. In the event that Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the guidance
issued thereunder (collectively, “Section 409A”) applies and any Restricted Shares would be paid to a Participant upon a
“separation from service” within the meaning of Section 409A, and no exemption or exclusion from Section 409A shall
apply, no Restricted Shares shall be released to any Participant who is a “specified employee” within the meaning of
Section 409A until the earlier of the first day of the seventh month after the month of such Participant’s separation from
service or the Participant’s death.

(c) In the event the employment of the Participant with Limoneira or an Affiliate terminates prior to the Issue Date, the Participant
automatically forfeits all rights to the Award set forth in Part I of this Agreement.
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9. Voting and Dividend Rights; Distribution of Shares Following Lapse of Restrictions.

(a) After the Issue Date and during the period in which the restrictions provided herein are applicable to the Restricted Shares, the
Participant shall have the right to vote such Common Stock and to receive any cash dividends paid with respect to such Common Stock. Any dividend or
distribution payable with respect to such Common Stock that will be paid in Shares shall be subject to the same restrictions provided for herein on the
Restricted Shares. Any other dividend or distribution (other than cash or Common Stock) payable on the Restricted Shares, and any consideration receivable
for or in conversion of or exchange for the Restricted Shares, shall be subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement or with such modifications thereof
as the Committee may provide in its sole discretion, subject to applicable law.

(b) Upon the expiration of the service-based restrictions on the Restricted Shares provided in this Agreement as to any portion of the
Restricted Shares, Limoneira in its sole discretion will either cause a new certificate(s) evidencing such amount of Common Stock to be delivered to the
Participant (or, in the case of his death after Vesting, cause such certificate to be delivered to Participant’s legal representative, beneficiary, or heir) or re-
provide book-entry Shares designated for the Participant (or, in the case of his death after Vesting, provide book-entry Shares designated for Participant’s
legal representative, beneficiary, or heir) on the records of Limoneira’s transfer agent, in each case free of the service-based restrictive legend set forth in
Section 8 of this Agreement; provided, however, that Limoneira shall not be obligated to issue any fractional Shares of Common Stock in the event of Share
certificates.

10. Income Reporting: Withholding: Tax Matters; Fees.

(a) During each year of Vesting, Limoneira or its agent shall report all income to the appropriate tax authorities and withhold and pay all
required local, state, federal, foreign income and other taxes and any other amounts required to be withheld by any governmental authority or law. The
Participant may elect to have Shares withheld from the Vested Restricted Shares (or other evidence of Common Stock ownership, including, without
limitation, a direct registration system book-entry account) to reimburse Limoneira for any taxes paid on his behalf. The number of Shares to be withheld
shall have a Fair Market Value as of the date that the amount of tax to be withheld is determined as nearly equal as possible to the amount of such obligations
being satisfied. Alternatively, upon the Vesting of the Restricted Shares, in accordance with procedures established by the Committee, the Participant may
elect to reimburse Limoneira in cash for all applicable withholding taxes paid on his behalf.

(i) In General. Limoneira has made no warranties or representations to the Participant with respect to the tax consequences
(including but not limited to income tax consequences) related to the Award or issuance, transfer, or disposition of Restricted
Shares (or any other benefit), and the Participant is in no manner relying on Limoneira or its representatives for an assessment
of such tax consequences. The Participant acknowledges that there may be adverse tax consequences with respect to the
Restricted Shares (including but not limited to the acquisition or disposition of the Restricted Shares) and that the
Participant should consult a tax advisor prior to such acquisition or disposition. The Participant acknowledges that the
Participant has been advised that the Participant should consult with the Participant’s own attorney, accountant, and/or tax
advisor regarding the decision to enter into this Agreement and the consequences thereof. The Participant also acknowledges
that Limoneira has no responsibility to take or refrain from taking any actions in order to achieve a certain tax result for the
Participant.




(ii) Election Under Section 83(b) of the Code.

A)

(®)

The Participant understands that Section 83 of the Code generally taxes as ordinary income the fair market value of
the Shares as of the date on which the Shares are “substantially vested,” within the meaning of Code Section 83. In
this context, “substantially vested” means that the restrictions on such Shares (that have been issued) have lapsed
and the Restricted Shares are Vested. The Participant understands that he may elect to have his taxable income
determined at the time he acquires the Restricted Shares, rather than when and as the restrictions on the Restricted
Shares lapse, by filing an election under Section 83(b) of the Code with the Internal Revenue Service no later than
thirty (30) days after the Issue Date with respect to the Shares. The Participant understands that failure to make a
timely filing under Code Section 83(b) will result in his recognition of ordinary income, as the restrictions on the
applicable Shares lapse, on the fair market value of the applicable Shares at the time such restrictions lapse. The
Participant further understands, however, that if Shares, with respect to which an election under Section 83(b) has
been made, are forfeited, such forfeiture will be treated as a sale on which there is realized a loss equal to the excess
(if any) of the amount paid (if any) by the Participant for the forfeited Shares over the amount realized (if any) upon
their forfeiture. If the Participant has paid nothing for the forfeited Shares and has received no payment upon their
forfeiture, the Participant understands that he will be unable to recognize any loss on the forfeiture of the Restricted
Shares, even though the Participant incurred a tax liability by making an election under Code Section 83(b).

The Participant understands that he should consult with his tax advisor regarding the advisability of filing with the
Internal Revenue Service an election under Section 83(b). ANY ELECTION UNDER CODE SECTION 83(b) THE
PARTICIPANT WISHES TO MAKE MUST BE FILED NO LATER THAN 30 DAYS AFTER THE ISSUE DATE.

THIS TIME PERIOD CANNOT BE EXTENDED. THE PARTICIPANT ACKNOWLEDGES THAT TIMELY FILING

OF A CODE SECTION 83(b) ELECTION IS THE PARTICIPANT’S SOLE RESPONSIBILITY, EVEN IF THE

PARTICIPANT REQUESTS LIMONEIRA OR ITS REPRESENTATIVE TO FILE SUCH ELECTION ON HIS

BEHALF.




© The Participant will notify Limoneira in writing, in a form and manner prescribed by Limoneira, within thirty (30)
days if the Participant files an election pursuant to Section 83(b) of the Code.

(b) Fees. All third party fees relating to the release, delivery, or transfer of the Restricted Shares shall be paid by the Participant or other
recipient. To the extent the Participant or other recipient is entitled to any cash payment from Limoneira or any of its Affiliates, the Participant hereby
authorizes the deduction of such fees from such payment(s) without further action or authorization of the Participant or other recipient; and to the extent the
Participant or other recipient is not entitled to any such payments, the Participant or other recipient shall pay Limoneira or its designee an amount equal to
such fees immediately upon the Vesting of the Restricted Shares.




PART II — PERFORMANCE BONUS A WARD

1. Performance Bonus Award Summary.

Performance Period: through
Target Performance Bonus Award and Performance The Target Performance Bonus Award (“ Target Bonus Award”) shall be based on the
Goal: Participant’s annual base salary in effect on , multiplied by the percentage

shown on Exhibit A, associated with the net income of Limoneira for the Performance Period
(“Performance Goal”). The Compensation Committee (“Committee”), in its sole discretion,
has elected to grant the Participant the opportunity to earn a “Bonus Award” derived from the
above calculation.

Discretionary Component: Notwithstanding the Performance Goal listed above being met, any additional Bonus Award
(Does not apply to Covered Employees) granted to a non-Covered Employee is at the sole discretion of the Committee.
Negative Discretion: A Bonus Award to either a Covered Employee or a non-Covered Employee shall be subject to

the Negative Discretion of the Committee to reduce an award.

Payment: Payment of a Bonus Award will be made in a cash lump sum, subject to the approval of the
Committee, on or after and on or before ; provided that no
Participant shall have the right to designate the calendar year of payment.

2. Performance Bonus Award. The Committee has sole authority to determine the amount granted and payable, if any, and to interpret the terms
and conditions of this Agreement and the Plan. Subject to the terms of the Plan and the Agreement, the Bonus Award shall be determined, awarded, and paid
on or after , and on or before , if the Performance Goals specified in Part II, Section 1 are attained by Limoneira. The
Committee shall certify in writing the attainment of the Performance Goal. The date on which the Committee makes its determination is referred to as the
“Award Date.” The date the Bonus Award, if any, is paid to a Participant is referred to as the “Payment Date.”

3. Specified Employees. In the event any Bonus Award would be paid to a Participant upon a “separation from service” within the meaning of
Section 409A and no exemption or exclusion from Section 409A shall apply, no Bonus Award shall be paid to any Participant who is a “specified employee”
within the meaning of Section 409 A until the earlier of the first day of the seventh month after the month of such Participant’s separation from service or the
Participant’s death.
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PART III — PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO PERFORMANCE SHARE-BASED/
Restricted Share Award and Performance Bonus Award

1.Incorporation of Plan. The rights and duties of Limoneira and the Participant under this Agreement shall in all respects be subject to and
governed by the provisions of the Plan, the terms of which are incorporated herein by reference. In the event of any conflict between the provisions in the
Agreement and those of the Plan, the provisions of the Plan shall govern. Unless otherwise provided herein, capitalized terms in this Agreement shall have the
same definitions as set forth in the Plan. The Participant acknowledges receipt of the Plan by executing this Agreement.

2. Nontransferability. The Performance Share-Based Award Shares and Restricted Shares shall not be transferable (including by sale, assignment,
pledge or hypothecation) other than by will or the laws of intestate succession until the Restricted Shares become Vested. Bonus Awards shall not be
transferable other than by will or the laws of the intestate succession. The designation of a beneficiary in accordance with Plan procedures does not constitute
a prohibited transfer.

3. Superseding Agreement: Binding Effect. This Agreement supersedes any statements, representations, or agreements of Limoneira or an Affiliate
with respect to the grant of the Awards or any related rights, and the Participant hereby waives any rights or claims related to any such statements,
representations, or agreements. This Agreement does not supersede or amend any existing confidentiality agreement, nonsolicitation agreement,
noncompetition agreement, any employment agreement or any other similar agreement between the Participant and Limoneira or an Affiliate, including, but
not limited to, any restrictive covenants contained in such agreements.

4. Amendment and Termination; Waiver. Except as permitted by the Plan, and subject to the terms of the Plan, this Agreement may be amended or
terminated only by the written agreement of the parties hereto. The waiver by Limoneira or an Affiliate of a breach of any provision of the Agreement by the
Participant shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach by the Participant. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee shall
have unilateral authority to amend the Plan and this Agreement (without Participant consent) to reduce any Award or to the extent necessary to comply with
applicable law or changes to applicable law (including but in no way limited to federal securities laws), and the Participant hereby consents to any such
amendments to the Plan and this Agreement.

5. Income Reporting; Withholding: Tax Matters. Limoneira, its Affiliates, or their agents shall report all income to the appropriate tax authorities
and withhold all required local, state, federal, foreign, and other taxes and any other amounts required to be withheld by any governmental authority or law.

In general, Limoneira and its Affiliates have made no warranties or representations to the Participant with respect to the tax consequences
(including but not limited to income tax consequences) related to the Awards. The Participant also acknowledges that Limoneira and its Affiliate have no
responsibility to take or refrain from taking any actions in order to achieve a certain tax result for the Participant.

6. Notices. Any and all notices under this Agreement shall be in writing and sent by hand delivery or by certified or registered mail (return receipt

requested and first-class postage prepaid), in the case of Limoneira, to its Committee, 1141 Cummings Road, Santa Paula, CA 93060, and in the case of the
Participant, to the last known address of the Participant as reflected in Limoneira’s records.
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7. Successors and Assigns. Subject to the limitations stated herein and in the Plan, this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of
the Participant and the Participant’s executors, administrators, and beneficiaries and Limoneira and its successors and assigns.

8. Counterparts; Further Instruments. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original,
but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. The parties hereto agree to execute such further instruments and to take such further
action as may be reasonably necessary to carry out the purposes and intent of this Agreement.

9. Right of Offset. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan or this Agreement, Limoneira may, subject to compliance with Code Section
409A (to the extent applicable), reduce the amount of any benefit or payment otherwise payable to or on behalf of the Participant by the amount of any
obligation of the Participant to Limoneira or an Affiliate that is or becomes due and payable, and the Participant shall be deemed to have consented to such
reduction.

10. Compliance with Laws; Restrictions on Awards and Shares. Limoneira may impose such restrictions on the Awards and the shares or other
benefits underlying the Awards as it may deem advisable, including without limitation restrictions under the federal securities laws, federal tax laws, the
requirements of any stock exchange, or similar organization and any blue sky, state, or foreign securities laws applicable to such Awards or shares.
Notwithstanding any other provision in the Plan or this Agreement to the contrary, Limoneira shall not be obligated to issue, deliver, or transfer any shares of
Common Stock, make any other distribution of benefits under the Plan, or take any other action, unless such delivery, distribution, or action is in compliance
with all applicable laws, rules, and regulations (including but not limited to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended). Limoneira may
cause a restrictive legend or legends to be placed on any certificate for Shares issued pursuant to the Performance Share-Based Award Shares/Restricted
Shares (or other evidence of Common Stock ownership, including, without limitation, a direct registration system book-entry account) in such form as may be
prescribed from time to time by applicable laws and regulations or as may be advised by legal counsel.

[Signature Page to Follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement has been executed on the dates indicated below on behalf of Limoneira and by the Participant effective as
of'the day and year first above written.

LIMONEIRA COMPANY

By:

Print Name:

Title:

Date:

PARTICIPANT

Date:

Address:
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Performance Goal for the
Limoneira

Pretax Income

EXHIBIT

A

LIMONEIRA COMPANY
2010 AMENDED AND RESTATED OMNIBUS INCENTIVE PLAN
Part Il — Performance Bonus Award

_____ through
NetIncome

(o 09 tax rate

______ Performance Period:

Participant's

Annual Base Salary X Percentage
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Exhibit 31.1

Certification of the Principal Executive Officer
Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a)

I, Harold S. Edwards, Chief Executive Officer of the registrant, certify that:

1. Thavereviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Limoneira Company (the “Registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d- 15(f))
for the Registrant and have:

@

(b)

©

@

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or person performing the equivalent functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.
March 10,2016 /s/ Harold S. Edwards

Harold S. Edwards,
Director, President, and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 31.2

Certification of the Principal Financial Officer
Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a)

I, Joseph D. Rumley, Chief Financial Officer of the registrant, certify that:

1. Thavereviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Limoneira Company (the “Registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d- 15(f))
for the Registrant and have:

@

(b)

©

©

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or person performing the equivalent functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.
March 10,2016 /s/ Joseph D. Rumley

Joseph D. Rumley,
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)




Exhibit 32.1
Certification of Principal Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0f2002 (18 U.S.C. 1350)

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 31,2016 (the “Report”) of Limoneira Company (the “Registrant™),
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof, I, Harold S. Edwards, Chief Executive Officer of the Registrant, hereby certify that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Registrant.

March 10,2016 /s/ Harold S. Edwards
Harold S. Edwards,
Director, President, and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 32.2
Certification of Principal Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0f2002 (18 U.S.C. 1350)

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 31,2016 (the “Report”) of Limoneira Company (the “Registrant”),
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof, I, Joseph D. Rumley, Chief Financial Officer of the Registrant, hereby certify that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Registrant.
March 10,2016 /s/ Joseph D. Rumley
Joseph D. Rumley,

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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